**Crown Commercial Service**

2nd Floor, Aviation House, 125 Kingsway, London WC2B 6NH

# T 0207 276 8886

**E** ManagedProcurementService@crowncommercial.gov.uk

[**https://www.gov.uk/ccs**](https://www.gov.uk/ccs)

**REDACTED**

M&C Saatchi UK PLC

36 Golden Square

London

W1F 9EE

18th March 2016

Dear Sirs,

**Contract for the provision of Communications – Creative and Delivery Services by M&C Saatchi UK PLC, 36 Golden Square, London, W1F 9EE as a Supplier to Department for Communities and Local Government, Fry Building, 2 Marsham Street, London, SW1P 4DF as Customer pursuant to the Communications – Creative and Delivery Services Framework Agreement (RM 988) dated 03/05/2013 between the Minister for the Cabinet Office acting through Government Procurement Service as the Authority (1) and the Supplier (2)**

1. We refer to the above Communications – Creative and Delivery Services Framework Agreement (the “**Framework Agreement**”). For the purposes of this Letter of Appointment:

* capitalised terms and expressions used in this Letter of Appointment have the same meanings given to them in or pursuant to the Call-Off Terms attached to this Letter of Appointment unless the context otherwise requires;
* references to Appendices are references to the appendices to this Letter of Appointment; and
* the Appendices shall form part of this Letter of Appointment.

1. This Letter of Appointment constitutes an Order for the provision by you to us of the Contract in accordance with the documents listed below:
2. The Call-Off Terms
3. Appendix 1 The Specification
4. Appendix 2 The Supplier’s Price Schedule
5. Appendix 3 The Supplier’s Proposal
6. In the event of conflict between any of the documents forming the Contract, the conflict shall be resolved by giving precedence to the documents in the order set out above.
7. The Customer’s Representative for the purpose of the Contract is Miriam Levin and any disputes in relation to the Contract shall be escalated to her.
8. For the purposes of the Contract, the address of each Party is:

* for the Customer:

Department for Communities and Local Government, Fry Building, 2nd Floor SW, 2 Marsham Street, London, SW1P 4DF

For the attention of: **REDACTED**  
Tel: **REDACTED**  
Email: **REDACTED**

* for the Supplier:

M&C Saatchi UK PLC, 36 Golden Square, London, W1F 9EE

For the attention of: **REDACTED**  
Tel: **REDACTED**  
Email: **REDACTED**

**Please would you sign and return the attached duplicate of this Letter of Appointment with the acknowledgement signed by a partner of your firm.**

**You should be aware that by signing and returning this Letter of Appointment you will have entered into a legally binding contract with us to supply the Contract Services specified in Appendix 1 and you hereby represent and warrant that you have carried out a conflict check in relation to such contract and that this revealed no conflicts of interest.**

Yours faithfully

**REDACTED**

Commercial Advisor

Crown Commercial Service

**REDACTED**

**REDACTED**

For and on behalf of Department for Communities and Local Government

I hereby confirm receipt of the above Letter of Appointment and the agreement of M&C Saatchi UK PLC to provide to Department for Communities and Local Government the Contract Services as specified in the Letter of Appointment in accordance with its terms.

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| Signed: **REDACTED** | Date: **REDACTED** |
| Name: **REDACTED** | Status: **REDACTED** |

**Appendix 1  
(The Specification)**

# 1. Summary

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) requires a creative agency to develop a new integrated communications campaign strategy and creative for Neighbourhood Planning.

* The aims are to raise awareness of neighbourhood planning and engage people who would be interested in taking it up, but are currently unaware.
* To drive people to the neighbourhood planning pages on the [My Community website.](http://mycommunity.org.uk/programme/neighbourhood-planning/)

The agency will deliver an “audience first” strategic approach in developing the creative. Therefore, we have not set out fixed media (channel and timings) deliverables as these will be informed by the creative solution. We are asking the creative agency to present a creative strategy and ideas for a communications campaign which has our core audiences at its centre. Putting the audience first requires the strategy to present a long-term view on how we will increase the number of people aware of neighbourhood planning, and recommend the right media mix and campaign timings to effectively deliver the integrated campaign the agency is proposing.

# 2. Background and overview of requirements

## 2.1. *Aims*

Aims:

* Awareness raising to ensure that as many people as possible know what neighbourhood planning is and how it can benefit communities.
* Engaging as many people and potential groups as possible who would be interested in the opportunities offered by neighbourhood planning, but who are currently unaware of these
* Dispelling myths and breaking down perceived barriers to neighbourhood planning, including cost, lack of relevance, level of difficulty and lack of support.

Secondary aims:

* Motivating groups that have started neighbourhood planning so that they see the process through to the end
* Reducing perceived barriers to developing a neighbourhood plan by explaining the process in accessible terms and signposting the help available at every step.

The measurable outcomes that we hope to deliver through this campaign are:

* Increase the number of people that can define Neighbourhood Planning without prompting.

* Encourage more people to find out about neighbourhood planning by increasing traffic to the resources and support available on the My Community website by 20% by the end of the campaign. Increase engagement levels, downloads of resources and reduce bounce rate. The number of unique page views on the neighbourhood planning landing page in November 2015 was 2,463, and average length of time spent on the My Community website was 2:46 min. We aim to increase both.
* Increase the number of people signed up for [Notes on Neighbourhood Planning,](https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/notes-on-neighbourhood-planning) the newsletter update for everyone interested in developing a neighbourhood plan, from just under 1000 now to over 5000 by September 2016.
* Increase the number of expressions of interest to Locality for the neighbourhood planning grant by 10%, leading to a 1% increase in starts by September 2016.
* Increase the number of neighbourhood planning groups formed in urban and deprived areas from current levels (10% of neighbourhood plan areas are un-parished, 15% are in the 25% most deprived local authority areas) by 3% in each category.
* Maintain or re-ignite momentum for groups that have started the process, so that the rate of groups publishing a draft plan within three years of application for designation increases from 57.6% to 60%. This is based on data from groups that applied for designation more than three years ago (data is based on informal monitoring and may contain inaccuracies).
* Encourage people to participate in the neighbourhood planning process, whether actively in producing the plan or voting in the referendum. Aim to increase average turnout by 1% from April 2016.
* Correct common misconceptions about neighbourhood planning and the complexity and cost of the process, including through local media advertorial and non-paid coverage in editorial. This will contribute to increased take up of the support services but is a more qualitative objective.

**2.2 Audiences**

A total of 69 local authorities have been identified as prime targets for the campaign (shown in Annex A). These LAs have been selected as they meet the basic criteria that make developing a neighbourhood plan a more likely prospect:

1. Local Plan in place
2. Community Infrastructure Levy charging regime
3. Between 0 and 6 neighbourhood plan areas already designated and clear capacity for more NP areas to be designated

The relative land value of each LA has also been identified in order to target message appropriately for low/medium/high land value/growth pressure area. The areas provide a good regional spread of areas across England.

**3. Audiences**

# REDACTED

# 4 Scope of requirements

# REDACTED

**4.2. Out of scope**

# REDACTED

# 5. Service level and performance

The quality of service delivery and agency performance will be measured according to:

* Delivery to time and budget of the component parts as listed above.
* Efficient project management, providing updates, organising regular meetings and presentations.
* Effective stakeholder management and working with other suppliers.

The agency will work closely with the Marketing and Campaigns Team at DCLG. The Team will monitor the quality of products delivered and performance. They will work closely with the DCLG Neighbourhood Planning Team to ensure rigorous and regular appraisal of the work as it develops. Delivery against KPIs will help inform the evaluation. Campaign KPIs will be set for:

* Increase in the number of groups undertaking the process (though this might not be evident during the lifetime of the campaign).
* Engagement with campaign i.e. number of participants taking part in interactive online activity (eg: Q&As), mentions and likes
* Increase in number of hits to neighbourhood planning section of My Community website
* Increase in number of calls to Locality’s advice line
* Increase in applications to the support programme managed by Locality
* Coverage achieved in local press and on local radio (with appropriate response metrics)
* Coverage and engagement with hyperlocal digital networks – level of discussion generated (with appropriate response metrics)
* Downloads of information and guidance from the website

Campaign tracking research will help inform the delivery assessment. Post campaign analysis and online insights will also inform campaign evaluation.

# Annex A TARGETED AREAS

**REDACTED**

# Annex B

**REDACTED**

**Appendix 2  
(Supplier’s Price Schedule)**

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| **Table 1 - Fee Schedule** | | | |
| **Function/Grades** | **Maximum Hourly Rate (£)** | **No. of hours** | **Cost (£)** |
| **CREATIVE** |  |  |  |
| **Creative Director** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **Art Director** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **Copywriter** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **Junior Art Director** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **Junior Copywriter** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **Graphics/Production Design** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **Group Account Director** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **Account Manager** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **Account Executive** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **PLANNING** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **Planning Director** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **Strategic Planner** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **Analyst/researcher** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **PRODUCTION** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **Senior Producer (TV/Digital/Print/Events)** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **Digital/flash/HTML Creative/Design** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| **TOTAL fee costs** |  |  | **REDACTED** |
|  |  |  |  |
| **Table 2 - Optional Roles/Specialisms** | | | |
| **Additional Function/Grades (up to a max of 10)** | **Maximum Hourly Rate (£)** | **No. of hours** | **Cost (£)** |
| Managing Director | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
| Account Director | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** | **REDACTED** |
|  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |
| **Total optional roles/specialisms costs** |  |  | **REDACTED** |

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| **Table 3 - Activity cost breakdown** | |
| **Activity** | **Cost (£)** |
| **Master print ads x3:** Illustration - landscape and portrait. Usage 1 year | **REDACTED** |
| **Radio:** 1x30" or 40" | **REDACTED** |
| **Press:** Assumes 15 titles adapted from print masters | **REDACTED** |
| **Digital display:** 2x banner suites each with, MPU, Leader board, Wide Sky | **REDACTED** |
| **Logo/ badge design:** Finalising design used in pitch document for reproduction | **REDACTED** |
| **Facebook/YT/Twitter posts :** 3x images supplied in 2:1 aspect ratio. (image only no copy) | **REDACTED** |
| **TOTAL activity costs** | **REDACTED** |
|  |  |
| **Table 4 - Total cost** | |
| **Activity** | **Cost (£)** |
| **Fee cost total** | **REDACTED** |
| **Optional roles / specialism cost total** | **REDACTED** |
| **Activity cost total** | **REDACTED** |
| **TOTAL all costs** | **£140,890.00** |

**Appendix 3**

**(Supplier’s Proposal)**

**REDACTED**

**Appendix 4  
Variations and/or supplements to the Call-Off Terms**

**NOT USED**

**Call-Off Terms**

CONTENTS

[1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 3](#_Toc354558181)

[2. SUPPLY OF CONTRACT SERVICES 8](#_Toc354558182)

[3. PAYMENT AND CHARGES 10](#_Toc354558183)

[4. LIABILITY AND INSURANCE 11](#_Toc354558184)

[5. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS 13](#_Toc354558185)

[6. PROTECTION OF INFORMATION 14](#_Toc354558186)

[7. WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS 19](#_Toc354558187)

[8. TERMINATION 21](#_Toc354558188)

[9. CONSEQUENCES OF EXPIRY OR TERMINATION 24](#_Toc354558192)

[10. PUBLICITY, MEDIA AND OFFICIAL ENQUIRIES 26](#_Toc354558193)

[11. PREVENTION OF BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION 26](#_Toc354558194)

[12. NON-DISCRIMINATION 27](#_Toc354558195)

[13. PREVENTION OF FRAUD 28](#_Toc354558196)

[14. TRANSFER AND SUB-CONTRACTING 28](#_Toc354558197)

[15. WAIVER 29](#_Toc354558198)

[16. CUMULATIVE REMEDIES 29](#_Toc354558199)

[17. FURTHER ASSURANCES 29](#_Toc354558200)

[18. SEVERABILITY 30](#_Toc354558201)

[19. SUPPLIER’S STATUS 30](#_Toc354558202)

[20. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 30](#_Toc354558203)

[21. CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 30](#_Toc354558204)

[22. NOTICES 31](#_Toc354558205)

[23. DISPUTES AND LAW 31](#_Toc354558206)

[24. DISASTER RECOVERY AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY 33](#_Toc354558207)

[25. REMEDIES IN THE EVENT OF INADEQUATE PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTRACT SERVICES 33](#_Toc354558209)

[26. RECORDS AND AUDIT ACCESS 34](#_Toc354558210)

[27. VARIATION 35](#_Toc354558211)

[28. MISTAKES IN INFORMATION 35](#_Toc354558212)

[29. TERM 36](#_Toc354558214)

[30. TUPE 36](#_Toc354558215)

[SCHEDULE 1 : SERVICE LEVELS 37](#_Toc354558216)

[SCHEDULE 2: VARIATION FORM 40](#_Toc354558217)

[SCHEDULE 3: DISASTER RECOVERY AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY 42](#_Toc354558218)

[SCHEDULE 4: NOT USED 48](#_Toc354558219)

[SCHEDULE 5: ADDITIONAL OPTIONAL CLAUSES 48](#_Toc354558222)

# DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

## **Definitions**

1. In the Contract, unless the context otherwise requires, the following provisions shall have the meanings given to them below:

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| 1. **"Authority"** | 1. means **THE MINISTER FOR THE CABINET OFFICE** (**"Cabinet Office"**) as represented by Government Procurement Service (formerly Buying Solutions), a trading fund of the Cabinet Office, whose offices are located at 9th Floor, The Capital, Old Hall Street, Liverpool L3 9PP; |
| 1. **“BCDR Plan”** | 1. means any plan relating to business continuity and disaster recovery as referred to in Schedule 3 (Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity); |
| 1. **“Call Off Commencement Date”** | 1. means the date specified as such in the Letter of Appointment; |
| 1. **“Confidential Information”** | 1. means the Customer's Confidential Information and/or the Supplier's Confidential Information; |
| 1. **"Contract"** | 1. means the written agreement between the Customer and the Supplier consisting of the Letter of Appointment, these Call-Off Terms (save to the extent varied by the Letter of Appointment) and any other documents referred to in the Letter of Appointment or these Call-Off Terms; |
| 1. **"Contract Charges"** | 1. means the prices (exclusive of any applicable VAT), payable to the Supplier by the Customer under the Contract for the full and proper performance by the Supplier of the Contract Services; | |
| 1. **“Contract Mediator”** | 1. has the meaning set out in Clause 23.2.5.1; |
| 1. **"Contract Services"** | 1. means the services to be supplied by the Supplier to the Customer as set out in Appendix 1(Contract Services) to the Letter of Appointment; |
| 1. **“Customer”** | 1. means the Contracting Body that issues the Letter of Appointment.; |
| 1. **"Customer’s Confidential Information"** | 1. means all Customer’s Personal Data and any information, however it is conveyed, that relates to the business, affairs, developments, trade secrets, know-how, personnel, and suppliers of the Customer, including all IPRs, together with all information derived from any of the above, and any other information clearly designated as being confidential (whether or not it is marked "confidential") or which ought reasonably be considered to be confidential; |
| **“Customer Data”** | 1. means: 2. (a) the data, text, drawings, diagrams, images or sounds (together with any database made up of these) which are embodied in any electronic, magnetic, optical or tangible media, and which: 3. (i) are supplied to the Supplier by or on behalf of the Customer; or 4. (ii) the Supplier is required to generate, process, store or transmit pursuant to this Contract; and 5. (b) any Personal Data for which the Customer is the Data Controller; |
| **"Customer’s Personal Data"** | 1. means the Personal Data supplied by the Customer to the Supplier and, for the purposes of or in connection with the Contract; |
| 1. **"Customer Pre-Existing IPR"** | 1. shall means any Intellectual Property Rights vested in or licensed to the Customer prior to or independently of the performance by the Supplier of its obligations under the Contract and including, for the avoidance of doubt, guidance, specifications, instructions, toolkits, plans, data, drawings, databases, patents, patterns, models and designs; |
| 1. **"Customer’s Representative"** | 1. means the representative of the Customer appointed by the Customer from time to time in relation to the Contract and notified to the Supplier; |
| 1. **"Data Subject"** | 1. has the same meaning as set out in the Data Protection Act 1998 as amended; |
| 1. **“Dispute Resolution Procedure”** | 1. means the dispute resolution procedure set out in Clause 23.2; |
| 1. **“Expiry Date”** | 1. means the date specified as such in the Letter of Appointment; |
| 1. **"Goods"** | 1. means the goods to be supplied in connection with or ancillary to the supply of the Contract Services and specified within the description of services at Part 1 of Framework Schedule 1 (Services); |
| 1. **“Good Industry Practice”** | 1. means standards, practices, methods and procedures conforming to the Law and the requirements of the Suppliers Regulation Authority and the degree of skill and care, diligence, prudence and foresight which would reasonably and ordinarily be expected from a skilled and experienced person or body engaged in providing services similar to the Contract Services; |
| 1. **"Information"** | 1. has the meaning given under section 84 of the FOIA; |
| 1. **“Key Performance Indicators” or “KPIs”** | 1. mean the indicators, if any, set out in the Letter of Appointment; |
| 1. **“Key Personnel”** | 1. means any individuals identified as such in the Letter of Appointment and any replacements for such individuals that may be agreed between the Parties from time to time in accordance with Clause 2.3; |
| 1. **"Letter of Appointment”** | 1. means the letter from the Customer to the Supplier dated 9th February 2016 (including its appendices) containing the Order to provide the Contract Services; |
| 1. **"Material Breach"** | means a material breach of the Contract; |
| 1. **"Party"** | 1. means the Customer or the Supplier and **"Parties"** shall mean both the Customer and the Supplier; |
| 1. **“Persistent Failure”** | 1. means any two (2) or more failures by the Supplier in any period of twelve (12) consecutive Months to comply with its obligations in respect of the Contract Services and under the Contract; |
| 1. **“Replacement Services”** | 1. means any services which are substantially similar to any of the Contract Services and which the Customer receives in substitution for any of the Contract Services following the expiry or termination of this Contract, whether those services are provided by the Customer internally and/or by any third party; |
| 1. **“Replacement Supplier”** | 1. means any third party supplier of Replacement Services appointed by the Customer from time to time; |
| 1. **"Service Levels"** | 1. means the service levels set out in Schedule 1 (Service Levels); |
| 1. **"Sub-Contract"** | 1. means the Supplier’s contract with a Sub-Contractor whereby the Sub-Contractor agrees to provide to the Supplier the Contract Services or any part thereof or facilities, services necessary for the provision of the Contract Services or any part thereof necessary for the management, direction or control of the Contract Services or any part thereof; |
| 1. **"Sub-Contractor"** | 1. means any person appointed by the Supplier to carry out any of the Supplier’s obligations under the Contract; |
| 1. **“Supplier”** | 1. means the Supplier to whom the Letter of Appointment is addressed; |
| 1. **"Supplier’s Confidential Information"** | 1. means any information, however it is conveyed, that relates to the business, affairs, developments, trade secrets, Know-How, personnel and suppliers of the Supplier, including all IPRs, together with information derived from the foregoing, and that in any case is clearly designated as being confidential; and |
| 1. **"Supplier’s Staff"** | 1. means all persons employed by the Supplier and/or any Sub-Contractor to perform the Supplier’s obligations under the Contract together with the Supplier's and/or any Sub-Contractor's servants, consultants, agents, suppliers and Sub-Contractors used in the performance of the Supplier’s obligations under the Contract. |

## **Interpretation**

1. The interpretation and construction of the Contract shall be subject to the following provisions:

### words importing the singular meaning include where the context so admits, the plural meaning and vice versa;

### words importing the masculine include the feminine and the neuter;

### the words "include", "includes", "including" “for example” and “in particular” and words of similar effect are to be construed as if they were immediately followed by the words "without limitation" and shall not limit the general effect of the words which precede them;

### references to any person shall include natural persons and partnerships, firms and other incorporated bodies and all other legal persons of whatever kind and however constituted and their successors and permitted assigns or transferees;

### the Annex forms part of these Call-Off Terms and shall have effect as if set out in full in the body of these Call-Off Terms and any reference to these Call-Off Terms includes the Annex;

### references to any statute, enactment, order, regulation, code, official guidance or other similar instrument shall be construed as a reference to the statute, enactment, order, regulation, code, official guidance or instrument as amended or replaced by any subsequent enactment, modification, order, regulation, code, official guidance or instrument (whether such amendment or replacement occurs before or after the date of the Contract);

### headings are included in the Contract for ease of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation or construction of the Contract;

### references to “Clauses” and the “Annex” are, unless otherwise provided, references to the clauses of and the Annex to these Call-Off Terms and references to “paragraphs” are, unless otherwise provided, references to paragraphs of the Annex or Schedule in which the references are made;

### terms or expressions contained in the Contract which are capitalised but which do not have an interpretation in Clause 1.1 shall be interpreted in accordance with the Framework Agreement;

### a reference to a Clause is a reference to the whole of that Clause unless stated otherwise; and

### in the event of and only to the extent of any conflict between the Letter of Appointment, these Call-Off Terms, any other document referred to in the Contract and the Framework Agreement, the conflict shall be resolved in accordance with the following descending order of precedence:

#### the Framework Agreement (excluding Framework Schedule 5 (Letter of Appointment and Call-Off Terms));

#### the Letter of Appointment;

#### these Call-Off Terms; and

#### any other document referred to in the Contract.

# SUPPLY OF CONTRACT SERVICES

## **Contract Services**

### The Supplier shall supply the Contract Services to the Customer in accordance with the provisions of the Contract including the Service Levels and Key Performance Indicators (if any) stipulated in the Letter of Appointment and Schedule 1 (Service Levels and Key Performance Indicators).

### The Supplier shall:

#### comply with all reasonable instructions given to the Supplier and the Supplier’s Staff by the Customer in relation to the Contract Services from time to time, including reasonable instructions to reschedule or alter the Contract Services;

#### immediately report to the Customer’s Representative any matters which involve or could potentially involve a conflict of interest as referred to in Clause 2.1.3.1;

#### co-operate with the Customer and the Customer’s other professional advisers in relation to the Contract Services as required by the Customer;

#### comply with the Customer’s internal policies and procedures and Government codes and practices in force from time to time (including policies, procedures, codes and practices relating to staff vetting, security, equality and diversity, confidentiality undertakings and sustainability) in each case as notified to the Supplier in writing by the Customer.

### The Supplier shall not:

#### knowingly act at any time during the term of the Contract in any capacity for any person, firm or company in circumstances where a conflict of interest between such person, firm or company and the Customer shall thereby exist in relation to the Contract Services; or

#### incur any expenditure which would result in any estimated figure for any element of the Contract Services being exceeded without the Customer’s written agreement; or

#### without the prior written consent of the Customer, accept any commission, discount, allowance, direct or indirect payment, or any other consideration from any third party in connection with the provision of the Contract Services; or

#### pledge the credit of the Customer in any way; or

#### engage in any conduct which in the reasonable opinion of the Customer is prejudicial to the Customer.

### The Supplier may be expected to work with other Suppliers from the Framework, or any of the Customer’s other frameworks to deliver the Contract Services required.

### The Supplier may be expected to deliver specific requirements in association with other named suppliers of the Customer.

### The Supplier may be expected to deliver specific requirements in association with the Customer’s in house teams. This may include a requirement for the Supplier’s Key Personnel to be based at the Customer’s premises for unspecified period of time.

### Both Parties shall take all necessary measures to ensure the health and safety of the other Party’s employees, consultants and agents visiting their premises.

### The Supplier accepts that the Customer shall have the right after consultation with the Supplier to require the removal from involvement in the Contract Services of any person engaged in the performance of the Contract Services if in the Customer’s reasonable opinion the performance or conduct of such person is or has been unsatisfactory or if it shall not be in the public interest for the person to work on the Contract Services.

### Where the Supplier is more than one firm acting as a consortium, each firm that is a member of the consortium shall be jointly and severally liable for performance of the Supplier’s obligations under the Contract.

### Time shall not be of the essence in this contract unless stipulated by the Customer in the Letter of Appointment, in which case the provisions of Schedule 5 (Additional Further Clauses), optional Clause 34 will apply.

## **Variation of Contract Services**

### The Customer may request a variation to the Contract Services at any time provided that such variation does not amount to a material change to the Order.

### Any request by the Customer for a variation to the Contract Services shall be by written notice to the Supplier:

#### giving sufficient information for the Supplier to assess the extent of the variation and any additional costs that may be incurred; and

#### specifying the timeframe within which the Supplier must respond to the request, which shall be reasonable,

#### and the Supplier shall respond to such request within such timeframe.

### In the event that the Supplier and the Customer are unable to agree any change to the Contract Charges in connection with any requested variation to the Contract Services, the Customer may agree that the Supplier should continue to perform its obligations under the Contract without the variation or may terminate the Contract in accordance with Clause 8.4.1.

## **Key Personnel**

### The Supplier acknowledges that the Key Personnel are essential to the proper provision of the Contract Services to the Customer. The Key Personnel shall be responsible for performing such roles as are ascribed to them in the Letter of Appointment and such other roles as may be necessary or desirable for the purposes of the Contract or as may be agreed between the Parties from time to time.

### The Key Personnel shall not be released by the Supplier from supplying the Contract Services without the agreement of the Customer, except by reason of long-term sickness, maternity leave, paternity leave, termination of employment/partnership or other extenuating circumstances.

### Any replacements to the Key Personnel shall be subject to the agreement of the Customer. Such replacements shall be of at least equal status or of equivalent experience and skills to the Key Personnel being replaced and be suitable for the responsibilities of that person in relation to the Contract.

### The Customer shall not unreasonably withhold its agreement under Clauses 2.3.2 or 2.3.3. Such agreement shall be conditional on appropriate arrangements being made by the Supplier to minimise any adverse impact on the Contract which could be caused by a change in Key Personnel.

### If requested by the Customer, the Supplier shall procure that Key Personnel attend transaction review meetings at no cost to the Customer during the term of the Contract and upon its conclusion.

# PAYMENT AND CHARGES

## **Contract Charges and VAT**

### In consideration of the Supplier's performance of its obligations under the Contract, the Customer shall pay the Contract Charges in accordance with Clause 3.2 (Payment).

### The Customer shall, in addition to the Contract Charges and following receipt of a valid VAT invoice, pay the Supplier a sum equal to the VAT chargeable on the value of the Contract Services supplied.

### The provisions of Framework Schedule 3 (Charging Structure) of the Framework Agreement shall apply in relation to the Contract Services.

### If at any time before the Contract Services have been delivered in full the Supplier reduces its Framework Prices for any Services which are provided under the Framework Agreement in accordance with the terms of the Framework Agreement with the result that the Framework Prices are lower than the Contract Charges, the Contract Charges for the Contract Services shall automatically be reduced so as to be equal to the Framework Prices.

### The Supplier shall indemnify the Customer on demand and on a continuing basis against any liability, including without limitation any interest, penalties or costs, which are suffered or incurred by or levied, demanded or assessed on the Customer at any time in respect of the Supplier's failure to account for or to pay any VAT relating to payments made to the Supplier under the Contract. Any amounts due under this Clause 3.1.5 shall be paid by the Supplier to the Customer not less than five (5) Working Days before the date upon which the tax or other liability is payable by the Customer.

## **Payment**

### The Customer shall pay all sums properly due and payable to the Supplier in respect of the Contract Services in cleared funds by no later than thirty (30) calendar days after the date of a validly issued invoice for such sums.

### The Supplier shall ensure that each invoice (whether submitted electronically or in a paper form) contains all appropriate references and a detailed breakdown of the Contract Services provided and any disbursements and that the invoice is supported by such other documentation as may reasonably be required by the Customer to substantiate the invoice.

### The Supplier shall ensure that all invoices submitted to the Customer for the Contract Services are exclusive of the Management Charge payable to the Authority in respect of the Contract Services. The Supplier shall not be entitled to increase the Contract Charges by an amount equal to such Management Charge or to recover such Management Charge as a surcharge or disbursement.

### The Supplier shall make any payments due to the Customer without any deduction whether by way of set-off, counterclaim, discount, abatement or otherwise unless the Supplier has a valid court order requiring an amount equal to such deduction to be paid by the Customer to the Supplier.

### Subject always to the provisions of Clause 14, if the Supplier enters into a Sub-Contract in respect of the Contract Services, it shall ensure that a provision is included in such Sub-Contract which requires payment to be made of all sums due by the Supplier to the Sub-Contractor within a specified period not exceeding thirty (30) calendar days from the receipt of a validly issued invoice, in accordance with the terms of the Sub-Contract.

### The Supplier shall not suspend the supply of the Contract Services unless the Supplier is entitled to terminate the Contract under Clause 8.2.2 on the grounds of the Customer’s failure to pay undisputed sums of money. Interest shall be payable by the Customer in accordance with the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 on the late payment of any undisputed sums of money properly invoiced by the Supplier in respect of the Contract Services.

### The Supplier shall accept the Government Procurement Card as a means of payment for the Contract Services where such card is agreed with the Customer to be a suitable means of payment. The Supplier shall be solely liable to pay any merchant fee levied for using the Government Procurement Card and shall not be entitled to recover this charge from the Customer.

### All payments due shall be made in cleared funds to such bank or building society account as the recipient Party may from time to time direct in writing.

## **Recovery of Sums Due**

### Wherever under the Contract any sum of money is recoverable from or payable by the Supplier (including any sum which the Supplier is liable to pay to the Customer in respect of any breach of the Contract), the Customer may unilaterally deduct that sum from any sum then due, or which at any later time may become due to the Supplier under the Contract

### Any overpayment by either Party, whether of the Contract Charges or of VAT or otherwise, shall be a sum of money recoverable by the Party who made the overpayment from the Party in receipt of the overpayment.

# LIABILITY AND INSURANCE

## **Liability**

### Neither Party excludes or limits its liability for:

#### death or personal injury caused by its negligence, or that of its employees, agents or sub-contractors; or

#### fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation by it or its employees.

### No individual nor any service company of the Supplier employing that individual shall have any personal liability to the Customer for the Contract Services supplied by that individual on behalf of the Supplier and the Customer shall not bring any claim under the Contract against that individual or such service company in respect of the Contract Services save in the case of Fraud or any liability for death or personal injury. Nothing in this Clause 4.1.2 shall in any way limit the liability of the Supplier in respect of the Contract Services, which such liability shall be uncapped unless otherwise specified in the Letter of Appointment.

### The Supplier shall fully indemnify and keep indemnified the Customer on demand in full from and against all claims, proceedings, actions, damages, costs, expenses and any other liabilities whatsoever arising out of, in respect of or in connection with, the supply, purported supply or late supply of the Contract Services or the performance or non-performance by the Supplier of its obligations under the Framework Agreement and the Customer’s financial loss arising from any advice given or omitted to be given by the Supplier, or any other loss which is caused by any act or omission of the Supplier.

### Subject to Clauses 4.1.1 and 4.1.5, in no event shall either Party be liable to the other for any:

#### loss of profits;

#### loss of business;

#### loss of revenue;

#### loss of or damage to goodwill;

#### loss of savings (whether anticipated or otherwise); and/or

#### any indirect, special or consequential loss or damage.

### The Supplier shall be liable for the following types of loss, damage, cost or expense which shall be regarded as direct and shall (without in any way, limiting other categories of loss, damage, cost or expense which may be recoverable by the Customer) be recoverable by the Customer:

#### the additional operational and/or administrative costs and expenses arising from any Material Breach;

#### the cost of procuring, implementing and operating any alternative or Replacement Services to the Contract Services; and

#### any regulatory losses, fines, expenses or other losses arising from a breach by the Supplier of any Laws.

### No enquiry, inspection, approval, sanction, comment, consent, decision or instruction at any time made or given by or on behalf of the Customer in respect of any document or information provided by the Supplier in its provision of the Contract Services, and no failure of the Customer to discern any defect in or omission from any such document or information shall operate to exclude or limit the obligation of the Supplier to exercise all the obligations of a professional supplier employed in a customer/supplier relationship.

### Save as otherwise expressly provided, the obligations of the Customer under the Contract are obligations of the Customer in its capacity as a contracting counterparty and nothing in the Contract shall operate as an obligation upon, or in any other way fetter or constrain the Customer in any other capacity, nor shall the exercise by the Customer of its duties and powers in any other capacity lead to any liability under the Contract (howsoever arising) on the part of the Customer to the Supplier.

## **Insurance**

### The Supplier shall effect and maintain with a reputable insurance company a policy or policies of insurance providing and subject to the minimum levels of insurance cover which are referred to in Clause 4.2.7, an adequate level of cover in respect of all risks which may be incurred by the Supplier, arising out of the Supplier’s performance of its obligations under the Contract, including death or personal injury, loss of or damage to property or any other loss. Such policy or policies shall include professional indemnity cover in respect of any financial loss to the Customer arising from any advice given or omitted to be given by the Supplier under the Contract or otherwise in connection with the provision of the Contract Services. Such insurance shall be maintained for so long as the Supplier may have any liability to the Customer.

### It shall be the responsibility of the Supplier to determine the amount of insurance cover that will be adequate to enable the Supplier to satisfy any liability arising in respect of the risks referred to in Clause 4.2.1.

### If, for whatever reason, the Supplier fails to give effect to and maintain the insurances required by Clause 4.2.1, the Customer may make alternative arrangements to protect its interests and may recover the costs of such arrangements from the Supplier.

### The Supplier shall ensure that nothing is done which would entitle the relevant insurer to cancel, rescind or suspend any insurance or cover, or to treat any insurance, cover or claim as voided in whole or part. The Supplier shall use all reasonable endeavours to notify the Customer as soon as practicable when it becomes aware of any relevant fact, circumstance or matter which has caused, or is reasonably likely to provide grounds for the relevant insurer to give notice to cancel, rescind, suspend or avoid any insurance, or any cover or claim under any insurance in whole or in part.

### The provisions of any insurance or the amount of cover shall not relieve the Supplier of any liabilities under the Contract.

### Where there are goods supplied, in connection with the supply of the Contract Services, the minimum insurance period shall be six (6) years following the expiration or earlier termination of this Contract.

### The standard minimum levels of insurance cover have been set out in the Framework Agreement. Any variation to those levels are set out in the Letter of Appointment.

# INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

## All Intellectual Property Rights (“IPR”) created in connection with the supply of the Contract Services shall vest in the Supplier who shall grant to the Customer a non-exclusive, unlimited, irrevocable licence to use and exploit the same, without further payment to the Supplier.

## The Supplier shall grant a licence, for the benefit of the Customer and the Authority, to permit them to use and/or exploit the IPR created in connection with the supply of the Contract Services, for the benefit of all Contracting Bodies, without further payment to the Supplier.

## Nothing in this contract shall interfere with the rights and responsibilities of the Supplier of any Customer Pre-Existing IPR.

## Subject to Clause 5.1 and save as expressly granted elsewhere under the Contract, the Customer shall not acquire any right, title or interest in or to the Intellectual Property Rights of the Supplier or its licensors and the Supplier shall not acquire any right, title or interest in or to the Intellectual Property Rights of the Customer or its licensors.

## The Supplier shall on demand fully indemnify and keep fully indemnified and hold the Customer and the Crown harmless from and against all actions, suits, claims, demands, losses, charges, damages, costs and expenses and other liabilities which the Customer and or the Crown may suffer or incur as a result of any claim that the performance by the Supplier of the Contract Services infringes or allegedly infringes a third party's Intellectual Property Rights (any such claim being a "**Claim**").

## If a Claim arises, the Customer shall notify the Supplier in writing of the Claim and the Customer shall not make any admissions which may be prejudicial to the defence or settlement of the Claim. The Supplier shall at its own expense conduct all negotiations and any litigation arising in connection with the Claim provided always that the Supplier:

### shall consult the Customer on all substantive issues which arise during the conduct of such litigation and negotiations;

### shall take due and proper account of the interests of the Customer;

### shall consider and defend the Claim diligently using competent counsel and in such a way as not to bring the reputation of the Customer into disrepute; and

### shall not settle or compromise the Claim without the prior written approval of the Customer (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

## The Supplier shall have no rights to use any of the Customer’s names, logos or trademarks without the prior written approval of the Customer.

# PROTECTION OF INFORMATION

## **Protection of Personal Data**

### With respect to the Parties' rights and obligations under the Contract, the Parties agree that the Customer is the Data Controller and that the Supplier is the Data Processor in relation to the Customer’s Personal Data.

### The Supplier shall:

#### Process the Customer’s Personal Data only in accordance with instructions from the Customer (which may be specific instructions or instructions of a general nature as set out in the Contract or as otherwise notified by the Customer to the Supplier during the term of the Contract);

#### Process the Customer’s Personal Data only to the extent, and in such manner, as is necessary for the provision of the Contract Services or as is required by Law or any Regulatory Body;

#### implement appropriate technical and organisational measures to protect the Customer’s Personal Data against unauthorised or unlawful processing and against accidental loss, destruction, damage, alteration or disclosure. These measures shall be appropriate to the harm which might result from any unauthorised or unlawful Processing, accidental loss, destruction or damage to the Customer’s Personal Data and having regard to the nature of the Customer’s Personal Data which is to be protected;

#### take reasonable steps to ensure the reliability of all members of the Supplier’s Staff who have access to the Customer’s Personal Data;

#### obtain the Customer’s prior written approval in order to transfer all or any of the Customer’s Personal Data to any Sub-Contractors for the provision of the Contract Services;

#### ensure that all members of the Supplier’s Staff required to access the Personal Data are informed of the confidential nature of the Personal Data and comply with the obligations set out in this Clause 6.1;

#### ensure that none of the Supplier’s Staff publish, disclose or divulge any of the Customer’s Personal Data to any third party unless directed in writing to do so by the Customer;

#### notify the Customer within five (5) Working Days if the Supplier receives:

##### 6.1.2.8.1 a request from a Data Subject to have access to the Customer’s Personal Data relating to that person; or

##### 6.1.2.8.2 a complaint or request relating to the Customer's obligations under the Data Protection Legislation;

#### provide the Customer with full cooperation and assistance in relation to any complaint or request made relating to the Customer’s Personal Data, including by:

##### providing the Customer with full details of the complaint or request;

##### complying with a data access request within the relevant timescales set out in the Data Protection Legislation and in accordance with the Customer's instructions;

##### providing the Customer with any Customer’s Personal Data which the Supplier holds in relation to a Data Subject (within the timescales required by the Customer); and

##### providing the Customer with any information requested by the Customer;

#### permit or procure permission for the Customer or the Customer’s Representative (subject to reasonable and appropriate confidentiality undertakings), to inspect and audit, the Supplier's data Processing activities (and/or those of its agents and Sub-Contractors) and comply with all reasonable requests or directions by the Customer to enable the Customer to verify and/or procure that the Supplier is in full compliance with its obligations under the Contract;

#### provide a written description of the technical and organisational methods employed by the Supplier for Processing the Customer’s Personal Data (within the timescales required by the Customer); and

#### not Process or otherwise transfer any Customer’s Personal Data outside the European Economic Area without the prior written consent of the Customer which may be given on such terms as the Customer in its discretion thinks fit.

### The Supplier shall comply at all times with the Data Protection Legislation and shall not perform its obligations under the Contract in such a way as to cause the Customer to breach any of its applicable obligations under the Data Protection Legislation.

### The Supplier acknowledges that, in the event that it breaches (or attempts or threatens to breach) its obligations relating to the Customer’s Personal Data that the Customer may be irreparably harmed (including harm to its reputation). In such circumstances, the Customer may proceed directly to court and seek injunctive or other equitable relief to remedy or prevent any further breach (or attempted or threatened breach).

### In the event that through any failure by the Supplier to comply with its obligations under the Contract, the Customer’s Personal Data that is transmitted or Processed in connection with the Contract is either lost or sufficiently degraded so as to be unusable, the Supplier shall be liable for the cost of reconstitution of that data and shall reimburse the Customer in respect of any charge levied for its transmission and any other costs charged in connection with such failure by the Supplier.

## **Confidentiality**

### Except to the extent set out in this Clause 6.2 or where disclosure is expressly permitted elsewhere in the Contract, each Party shall:

#### treat the other Party's Confidential Information as confidential and safeguard it accordingly; and

#### not disclose the other Party's Confidential Information to any other person without the owner's prior written consent.

### Clause 6.2.1 shall not apply to the extent that:

#### such disclosure is a requirement of Law placed upon the Party making the disclosure, including any requirements for disclosure under the FOIA, Code of Practice on Access to Government Information or the Environmental Information Regulations pursuant to Clause 6.4 (Freedom of Information); or

#### such information was in the possession of the Party making the disclosure without obligation of confidentiality prior to its disclosure by the information owner; or

#### such information was obtained from a third party without obligation of confidentiality; or

#### such information was already in the public domain at the time of disclosure otherwise than by a breach of the Contract; or

#### it is independently developed without access to the other Party's Confidential Information.

### The Supplier may only disclose the Customer's Confidential Information to those members of the Supplier’s Staff who are directly involved in the provision of the Contract Services and who need to know the information, and shall ensure that such individuals are aware of and shall comply with the Supplier’s obligations as to confidentiality as set out in the Contract.

### The Supplier shall not, and shall procure that the Supplier’s Staff do not, use any of the Customer's Confidential Information received otherwise than for the purposes of the Contract.

### At the written request of the Customer, the Supplier shall procure that those members of the Supplier’s Staff identified in the Customer's request sign a confidentiality undertaking prior to commencing any work in accordance with the Contract.

### Nothing in the Contract shall prevent the Customer from disclosing the Supplier's Confidential Information (including the Management Information obtained pursuant to clause 15 of the Framework Agreement):

#### to any Crown body or any other Contracting Body on the basis that the information is confidential and is not to be disclosed to a third party which is not part of any Crown body or any Contracting Body save as required by Law;

#### to any consultant, contractor or other person engaged by the Customer for any purpose relating to or connected with the Contract or the Framework Agreement (on the basis that the information shall be held by such consultant, contractor or other person in confidence and is not to be disclosed to any third party) or any person conducting an Office of Government Commerce gateway review or any additional assurance programme;

#### for the purpose of the examination and certification of the Customer‘s accounts; or

#### for any examination pursuant to section 6(1) of the National Audit Act 1983 of the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which the Customer has used its resources.

### The Customer shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that any government department, customer, employee, third party or contractor to whom the Supplier's Confidential Information is disclosed pursuant to Clause 6.2.6 is made aware of the Customer’s obligations of confidentiality under this Contract.

### Nothing in this Clause 6.2 shall prevent either Party from using any techniques, ideas or Know-How gained during the performance of the Contract in the course of its normal business to the extent that this use does not result in a disclosure of the other Party's Confidential Information or an infringement of IPR.

### In order to ensure that no unauthorised person gains access to any Confidential Information or any data obtained in performance of the Contract, the Supplier undertakes to maintain adequate security arrangements that meet the requirements of Good Industry Practice.

### The Supplier shall, at all times during and after the term of the Contract, indemnify the Customer and keep the Customer fully indemnified against all losses, damages, costs or expenses and other liabilities (including legal fees) incurred by, awarded against or agreed to be paid by the Customer arising from any breach of the Supplier's obligations under this Clause 6.2 except and to the extent that such liabilities have resulted directly from the Customer's instructions.

## **Official Secrets Acts 1911 to 1989; section 182 of the Finance Act 1989**

### The Supplier shall comply with and shall ensure that all members of the Supplier’s Staff comply with, the provisions of:

#### the Official Secrets Acts 1911 to 1989; and

#### section 182 of the Finance Act 1989.

## **Freedom of Information**

### The Supplier acknowledges that the Customer is subject to the requirements of the FOIA and the Environmental Information Regulations and shall assist and cooperate with the Customer to enable the Customer to comply with its Information disclosure obligations.

### The Supplier shall and shall procure that its Sub-Contractors shall:

#### transfer to the Customer all Requests for Information that it receives as soon as practicable and in any event within two (2) Working Days of receiving a Request for Information;

#### provide the Customer with a copy of all Information relating to a Request for Information in its possession, or control in the form that the Customer requires within five (5) Working Days (or such other period as the Customer may specify) of the Customer's request; and

#### provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the Customer to enable the Customer to respond to the Request for Information within the time for compliance set out in section 10 of the FOIA or regulation 5 of the Environmental Information Regulations.

### The Customer shall be responsible for determining in its absolute discretion and notwithstanding any other provision in the Contract or any other contract whether the Commercially Sensitive Information and/or any other Information including the Supplier’s Confidential Information, is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA or the Environmental Information Regulations.

### In no event shall the Supplier respond directly to a Request for Information unless authorised in writing to do so by the Customer.

### The Supplier acknowledges that (notwithstanding the provisions of Clause 6.2) the Customer may, acting in accordance with the Ministry of Justice Codes, be obliged under the FOIA or the Environmental Information Regulations to disclose information concerning the Supplier or the Contract Services:

#### in certain circumstances without consulting the Supplier; or

#### following consultation with the Supplier and having taken the Supplier’s views into account,

#### provided always that where Clause 6.4.5 applies the Customer shall, in accordance with any recommendations of the Ministry of Justice Codes, take reasonable steps, where appropriate, to give the Supplier advance notice, or failing that, to draw the disclosure to the Supplier's attention after any such disclosure.

### The Supplier shall ensure that all Information is retained for disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the Contract and in any event in accordance with the requirements of Good Industry Practice and shall permit the Customer on reasonable notice to inspect such records as requested from time to time.

### The Supplier acknowledges that the Commercially Sensitive Information is of an indicative nature only and that the Customer may be obliged to disclose it in accordance with Clause 6.4.5.

## **Transparency**

### The Parties acknowledge that, except for any information which is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA, the content of the Contract is not Confidential Information. The Customer shall be responsible for determining in its absolute discretion whether any of the content of the Contract is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA.

### Notwithstanding any other term of the Contract, the Supplier hereby gives consent to the Customer to publish the Contract to the general public in its entirety (subject only to redaction of any information which is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA), including any changes to the Contract agreed from time to time.

### The Customer may consult with the Supplier to inform its decision regarding any redactions but the Customer shall have the final decision in its absolute discretion.

### The Supplier shall assist and cooperate with the Customer to enable the Customer to publish the Contract.

# WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS

## The Supplier warrants, represents and undertakes to the Customer that:

### it has full capacity and authority and all necessary consents, licences and permissions (statutory, regulatory, contractual or otherwise) to enter into and perform its obligations under the Contract;

### the Contract is executed by a duly authorised representative of the Supplier;

### in entering the Contract it has not committed any Fraud;

### it has not committed any offence under Bribery Act 2010;

### all information, statements and representations contained in the Supplier’s tender or other submission to the Customer for the award of the Contract Services are true, accurate and not misleading save as specifically disclosed in writing to the Customer prior to execution of the Contract and it will advise the Customer of any fact, matter or circumstance of which it may become aware which would render any such information, statement or representation to be false or misleading;

### no claim is being asserted and no litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding is presently in progress or, to the best of its knowledge and belief, pending or threatened against the Supplier or its assets which will or might affect its ability to perform its obligations under the Contract;

### it is not subject to any contractual obligation, compliance with which is likely to have an adverse effect on its ability to perform its obligations under the Contract;

### it has not done or omitted to do anything which could have an adverse effect on its assets, financial condition or position as an ongoing business concern or its ability to fulfil its obligations under the Contract;

### no proceedings or other steps have been taken and not discharged or dismissed (nor, to the best of its knowledge, are threatened) for the winding up of the Supplier or for its dissolution or for the appointment of a receiver, administrative receiver, liquidator, manager, administrator or similar officer in relation to any of the Supplier's assets or revenue;

### it has taken and shall continue to take all steps, in accordance with Good Industry Practice, to prevent the unauthorised use of, modification, access, introduction, creation or propagation of any disruptive element, virus, worms and/or trojans, spyware or other malware into the computing environment (including the hardware, software and/or telecommunications networks or equipment), data, software or Confidential Information (held in electronic form) owned by or under the control of, or used by, the Customer; and

### it owns, has obtained or is able to obtain valid licences for all Intellectual Property Rights that are necessary for the performance of its obligations under the Contract and shall maintain the same in full force and effect for so long as is necessary for the proper provision of the Contract Services.

## The Supplier warrants, represents and undertakes to the Customer that:

### it has read and fully understood the Letter of Appointment and these Call-Off Terms and is capable of performing the Contract Services in all respects in accordance with the Contract;

### the Supplier and each of its Sub-Contractors has all staff, equipment and experience necessary for the proper performance of the Contract Services; and

### it will at all times perform its obligations under the Contract with all reasonable care, skill and diligence and in accordance with Good Industry Practice;

### where goods are supplied in connection with or ancillary to the Contract Services, those Goods are and will continue to be, throughout the anticipated or stipulated lifetime of the same:

#### of satisfactory quality and fit for purpose;

#### in conformance with the relevant specifications set out in the relevant Letter of Appointment and (if applicable) the manufacturer’s specifications and documentation;

#### free from material programming errors and material defects in design, manufacture or materials throughout the applicable warranty period;

#### supplied with full title guarantee;

#### consistent with any requirements set out or referred to in any Letter of Appointment relating to quality and security and the Supplier shall ensure that all aspects of the said goods are the subject of quality management systems and risk mitigation measures; and

#### serviceable (and, in this connection, that sufficient spare parts shall be readily available for the said anticipated or stipulated lifetime in conformance with the relevant specifications set out in the relevant Letter of Appointment and (if applicable) the manufacturer’s specifications and documentation).

### it shall comply with all the KPIs and meet or exceed the Service Levels;

### it shall carry out the Contract Services within the timeframe agreed with the Customer; and

### without prejudice to its obligations under Clause 2.3 (Key Personnel), the Supplier shall ensure to the satisfaction of the Customer that the Contract Services are provided and carried out by such appropriately qualified, skilled and experienced suppliers and/or other staff as shall be necessary for the proper performance of the Contract Services.

## The Supplier shall promptly notify the Customer in writing:

### of any material detrimental change in the financial standing and/or credit rating of the Supplier;

### if the Supplier undergoes a Change of Control; and

### provided this does not contravene any Law, of any circumstances suggesting that a Change of Control is planned or in contemplation.

## For the avoidance of doubt, the fact that any provision within the Contract is expressed as a warranty shall not preclude any right of termination the Customer would have in respect of breach of that provision by the Supplier if that provision had not been so expressed.

## The Supplier acknowledges and agrees that:

### the warranties, representations and undertakings contained in the Contract are material and are designed to induce the Customer into entering into the Contract; and

### the Customer has been induced into entering into the Contract and in doing so has relied upon the warranties, representations and undertakings contained in the Contract.

# TERMINATION

## **Termination on Insolvency**

### The Customer may terminate the Contract with immediate effect by giving notice in writing to the Supplier if:

#### a proposal is made for a voluntary arrangement within Part I of the Insolvency Act 1986 or of any other composition scheme or arrangement with, or assignment for the benefit of, the Supplier’s creditors; or

#### a shareholders', members’ or partners’ meeting is convened for the purpose of considering a resolution that the Supplier be wound up or a resolution for the winding-up of the Supplier is passed (other than as part of, and exclusively for the purpose of, a bona fide reconstruction or amalgamation); or

#### a petition is presented for the winding-up of the Supplier (which is not dismissed within five (5) Working Days of its service) or an application is made for the appointment of a provisional liquidator or a creditors' meeting is convened in respect of the Supplier pursuant to section 98 of the Insolvency Act 1986; or

#### a receiver, administrative receiver or similar officer is appointed over the whole or any part of the Supplier’s business or assets; or

#### a creditor or encumbrancer attaches or takes possession of, or a distress, execution, sequestration or other such process is levied or enforced on or sued against, the whole or any part of the Supplier’s assets and such attachment or process is not discharged within ten (10) Working Days; or

#### an application is made in respect of the Supplier either for the appointment of an administrator or for an administration order and an administrator is appointed, or notice of intention to appoint an administrator is given; or

#### if the Supplier is or becomes insolvent within the meaning of section 123 of the Insolvency Act 1986; or

#### the Supplier suspends or ceases, or threatens to suspend or cease, to carry on all or a substantial part of his business; or

#### in the reasonable opinion of the Customer, there is a material detrimental change in the financial standing and/or the credit rating of the Supplier which:

8.1.1.9.1 adversely impacts on the Supplier’s ability to supply the Contract Services in accordance with the Contract; or

8.1.1.9.2 could reasonably be expected to have an adverse impact on the Supplier’s ability to supply the Contract Services in accordance with the Contract; or

#### the Supplier demerges into two or more firms, merges with another firm, incorporates or otherwise changes its legal form and the new entity has or could reasonably be expected to have a materially less good financial standing or weaker credit rating than the Supplier; or

#### being a "small company" within the meaning of section 382(3) of the Companies Act 2006, a moratorium in respect of the Supplier comes into force pursuant to Schedule A1 of the Insolvency Act 1986; or

#### the Supplier being an individual dies or is adjudged incapable of managing his affairs within the meaning of Part VII of the Mental Health Act 1983; or

#### the Supplier being an individual or any partner or partners in the Supplier who together are able to exercise control of the Supplier where the Supplier is a firm shall at any time become bankrupt or shall have a receiving order or administration order made against him or them, or shall make any composition or arrangement with or for the benefit for his or their creditors, or shall make any conveyance or assignment for the benefit of his or their creditors, or shall purport to do any of these things, or appears or appear unable to pay or to have no reasonable prospect of being able to pay a debt within the meaning of section 268 of the Insolvency Act 1986, or he or they shall become apparently insolvent within the meaning of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985, or any application shall be made under any bankruptcy or insolvency act for the time being in force for sequestration of his or their estate(s) or a trust deed shall be granted by him or them on behalf of his or their creditors; or

### any event similar to those listed in Clauses 8.1.1.1 to 8.1.1.13 occurs under the law of any other jurisdiction which the Supplier is subject to.

## **Termination on Material Breach, Persistent Failure or Grave Misconduct etc**

### The Customer may terminate the Contract with immediate effect by giving written notice to the Supplier if:

#### the Supplier commits a Material Breach and if:

8.2.1.1.1 the Supplier has not within ten (10) Working Days or such other longer period as may be specified by the Customer, after issue of a written notice to the Supplier specifying the Material Breach and requesting it to be remedied:

# 8.2.1.1.1.1 remedied the Material Breach; and

# 8.2.1.1.1.2 put in place measures to ensure that such Material Breach does not recur,

# in each case to the satisfaction of the Customer; or

8.2.1.1.4 the Material Breach is not, in the opinion of the Customer, capable of remedy; or

#### a Persistent Failure has occurred; or

#### Grave Misconduct has occurred; or

#### the Supplier breaches any of Clause 6.1 (Protection of Personal Data), Clause 6.2 (Confidentiality), Clause 6.3 (Official Secrets Acts 1911 to 1989; section 182 of the Finance Act 1989), Clause 7 (Warranties, Representations and Undertakings), Clause 11 (Prevention of Bribery and Corruption), Clause 12 (Non-Discrimination), Clause 13 (Prevention of Fraud) and Clause 14 (Transfer and Sub-Contracting); or

#### in the event of conviction for dishonesty of the Supplier (if an individual) or any one or more of the Supplier’s directors, partners or members (if the Supplier is a firm or firms), which conviction might reasonably be expected to lead to the striking off from the roll maintained by the Suppliers Regulation Authority of the individual(s) concerned.

### If the Customer fails to pay the Supplier undisputed sums of money when due, the Supplier shall notify the Customer in writing of such failure to pay. If the Customer fails to pay such undisputed sums within five (5) calendar days from the receipt of such notice, the Supplier may terminate the Contract by ten (10) Working Days’ written notice to the Customer.

## **Termination on Change of Control**

### The Customer may terminate the Contract by notice in writing with immediate effect within six (6) Months of:

#### being notified in writing that a Change of Control has occurred or is planned or in contemplation; or

#### where no notification has been made, the date that the Customer becomes aware of the Change of Control,

#### but shall not be permitted to terminate where the Customer’s written consent to the continuation of the Contract was granted prior to the Change of Control.

## **Termination on Notice**

### The Customer shall have the right to suspend the Contract with immediate effect at any time by giving written notice to the Supplier and to terminate the Contract with immediate effect by giving written notice to the Supplier at any time.

## **Termination of Framework Agreement**

### The Customer may terminate the Contract with immediate effect by giving written notice to the Supplier if the Framework Agreement is terminated for any reason whatsoever.

## **Partial Termination**

### Where the Customer is entitled to terminate the Contract pursuant to this Clause 8, the Customer shall be entitled to terminate all or part of the Contract provided always that the parts of the Contract not terminated can operate effectively to deliver the intended purpose of the Contract or a part thereof.

# CONSEQUENCES OF EXPIRY OR TERMINATION

## Subject to Clause 9.2, where the Customer terminates the Contract pursuant to Clause 8 (Termination) and then makes other arrangements for the supply of the Contract Services:

### the Customer may recover from the Supplier the cost reasonably incurred in making those other arrangements and any additional expenditure incurred by the Customer in securing the Contract Services in accordance with the requirements of the Contract;

### the Customer shall take all reasonable steps to mitigate such additional expenditure; and

### no further payments shall be payable by the Customer to the Supplier until the Customer has established the final cost of making those other arrangements, whereupon the Customer shall be entitled to deduct an amount equal to the final cost of such other arrangements from the further payments then due to the Supplier.

## Clause 9.1 shall not apply where the Customer terminates the Contract:

### solely pursuant to Clause 8.3 (Termination on Change of Control) or Clause 8.4 (Termination on Notice); or

### solely pursuant to Clause 8.5 (Termination of the Framework Agreement)if termination pursuant to Clause 8.5 occurs as a result of termination of the Framework Agreement pursuant to the provisions of clauses 25.6, 25.11, 25.12 or 25.13 thereof.

## On the termination of the Contract for any reason, the Supplier shall, at the request of the Customer and at the Supplier’s cost:

### immediately return to the Customer all Confidential Information and the Customer‘s Personal Data in its possession or in the possession or under the control of any permitted suppliers or Sub-Contractors, which was obtained or produced in the course of providing the Contract Services;

### except where the retention of Customer’s Personal Data is required by Law, promptly destroy all copies of the Customer Data and provide written confirmation to the Customer that the data has been destroyed;

### immediately deliver to the Customer in good working order (but subject to allowance for reasonable wear and tear) all the property (including materials, documents, information and access keys but excluding real property and IPR) issued or made available to the Supplier by the Customer in connection with the Contract;

### vacate, and procure that the Supplier’s Staff vacate, any premises of the Customer occupied for the purposes of providing the Contract Services;

### return to the Customer any sums prepaid in respect of the Contract Services not provided by the date of expiry or termination (howsoever arising); and

### promptly provide all information concerning the provision of the Contract Services which may reasonably be requested by the Customer for the purposes of adequately understanding the manner in which the Contract Services have been provided or for the purpose of allowing the Customer or any Replacement Supplier to conduct due diligence.

## Without prejudice to any other right or remedy which the Customer may have, if any Contract Services are not supplied in accordance with, or if the Supplier fails to comply with, any of the terms of the Contract then the Customer may (whether or not any part of the Contract Services have been delivered) do any one or more of the following:

### at the Customer’s option, give the Supplier the opportunity (at the Supplier's expense) to remedy any failure in the performance of the Contract Services together with any damage resulting from such defect or failure (and where such defect or failure is capable of remedy) and carry out any other necessary work to ensure that the terms of the Contract are fulfilled, in accordance with the Customer's instructions;

### without terminating the Contract, itself supply or procure the supply of all or part of the Contract Services until such time as the Supplier shall have demonstrated to the reasonable satisfaction of the Customer that the Supplier will once more be able to supply all or such part of the Contract Services in accordance with the Contract;

### without terminating the whole of the Contract, terminate the Contract in respect of part of the Contract Services only and thereafter itself supply or procure a third party to supply such part of the Contract Services; and/or

### charge the Supplier for, whereupon the Supplier shall on demand pay, any costs reasonably incurred by the Customer (including any reasonable administration costs) in respect of the supply of any part of the Contract Services by the Customer or a third party to the extent that such costs exceed the payment which would otherwise have been payable to the Supplier for such part of the Contract Services and provided that the Customer uses its reasonable endeavours to mitigate any additional expenditure in obtaining replacement Contract Services.

## Save as otherwise expressly provided in the Contract:

### termination or expiry of the Contract shall be without prejudice to any rights, remedies or obligations accrued under the Contract prior to termination or expiration and nothing in the Contract shall prejudice the right of either Party to recover any amount outstanding at the time of such termination or expiry; and

### termination of the Contract shall not affect the continuing rights, remedies or obligations of the Customer or the Supplier under the following Clauses: Clause 3 (Payment and Charges); Clause 4 (Liability and Insurance); Clause 5 (Intellectual Property Rights); Clause 6.1 (Protection of Personal Data); Clause 6.2 (Confidentiality); Clause 6.3 (Official Secrets Acts 1911 to 1989; section 182 of the Finance Act 1989); Clause 6.4 (Freedom of Information); Clause 11 (Prevention of Bribery and Corruption); Clause 13 (Prevention of Fraud); Clause 21 (Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act); Clause 23.1 (Governing Law and Jurisdiction) and, without limitation to the foregoing, any other provision of the Contract which expressly or by implication is to be performed or observed notwithstanding termination or expiry shall survive the termination or expiry of the Contract.

# PUBLICITY, MEDIA AND OFFICIAL ENQUIRIES

## The Supplier shall not, and shall procure that its Sub-Contractors shall not, make any press announcements or publicise the Contract in any way without the Customer’s prior written approval and shall take reasonable steps to ensure that the Supplier’s Staff and professional advisors comply with this Clause 10. Any such press announcements or publicity proposed under this Clause 10 shall remain subject to the rights relating to Confidential Information and Commercially Sensitive Information.

## Subject to the rights in relation to Confidential Information and Commercially Sensitive Information, the Customer shall be entitled to publicise the Contract in accordance with any legal obligation upon the Customer including any examination of the Contract by the Auditors.

## The Supplier shall not do anything or permit to cause anything to be done which may damage the reputation of the Customer or bring the Customer into disrepute.

# PREVENTION OF BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION

## The Supplier shall not:

### offer or give, or agree to give, to any employee, agent, servant or representative of the Customer, any Contracting Body or any other public body or any person employed by or on behalf of the Customer any gift or other consideration of any kind which could act as an inducement or a reward for any act or failure to act in relation to the Contract; or

### engage in, and shall procure that all the Supplier’s Staff or any person acting on the Supplier's behalf shall not commit, in connection with the Contract, a Prohibited Act under the Bribery Act 2010, or any other relevant laws, statutes, regulations or codes in relation to bribery and anti-corruption.

## The Supplier warrants, represents and undertakes that it has not:

### paid commission or agreed to pay commission to the Customer, any Contracting Body or any other public body or any person employed by or on behalf of the Customer in connection with the Contract; and

### entered into the Contract with knowledge, that, in connection with it, any money has been, or will be, paid to any person working for or engaged by the Customer or any other public body or any person employed by or on behalf of the Customer in connection with the Contract, or that an agreement has been reached to that effect, unless details of any such arrangement have been disclosed in writing to the Customer and the Authority before execution of the Contract.

## The Supplier shall:

### in relation to the Contract, act in accordance with the Ministry of Justice Guidance;

### immediately notify the Customer if it suspects or becomes aware of any breach of this Clause 11;

### respond promptly to any of the Customer’s enquiries regarding any breach, potential breach or suspected breach of this Clause 11 and the Supplier shall co-operate with any investigation and allow the Customer to audit Supplier’s books, records and any other relevant documentation in connection with the breach;

### if so required by the Customer, within twenty (20) Working Days of the Call Off Commencement Date, and annually thereafter, certify to the Customer in writing of the compliance with this Clause 11 by the Supplier and all persons associated with it or its Sub-Contractors or other persons who are supplying the Contract Services. The Supplier shall provide such supporting evidence of compliance as the Customer may reasonably request; and

### have, maintain and enforce an anti-bribery policy (which shall be disclosed to the Customer on request) to prevent the Supplier and any of the Supplier’s Staff or any person acting on the Supplier's behalf from committing a Prohibited Act and shall enforce it where appropriate.

## If the Supplier, any member of the Supplier’s Staff or any person acting on the Supplier's behalf, in all cases whether or not acting with the Supplier's knowledge breaches:

### this Clause 11; or

### the Bribery Act 2010 in relation to the Contract or any other contract with the Customer or any other public body or any person employed by or on behalf of the Customer or a public body in connection with the Contract,

### the Customer shall be entitled to terminate the Contract by written notice with immediate effect.

## Without prejudice to its other rights and remedies under this Clause 11, the Customer shall be entitled to recover in full from the Supplier and the Supplier shall on demand indemnify the Customer in full from and against:

### the amount of value of any such gift, consideration or commission; and

### any other loss sustained by the Customer in consequence of any breach of this Clause 11.

# NON-DISCRIMINATION

## The Supplier shall not unlawfully discriminate within the meaning and scope of any Law, enactment, order or regulation relating to discrimination (whether in race, gender, religion, disability, sexual orientation, age or otherwise).

## The Supplier shall take all reasonable steps to secure the observance of Clause 12.1 by all the Supplier’s Staff employed in the execution of the Contract.

# PREVENTION OF FRAUD

## The Supplier shall take all reasonable steps, in accordance with Good Industry Practice, to prevent any Fraud by the Supplier and any member of the Supplier’s Staff.

## The Supplier shall notify the Customer immediately if it has reason to suspect that any Fraud has occurred or is occurring or is likely to occur save where complying with this provision would cause the Supplier or any member of the Supplier’s Staff to commit an offence under the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 or the Terrorism Act 2000.

## If:

### the Supplier breaches any of its obligations under Clause 13.1 and Clause 13.2; or

### the Supplier or any member of the Supplier’s Staff commits any Fraud in relation to the Contract or any other contract with the Customer or any other person,

### the Customer may recover in full from the Supplier and the Supplier shall on demand indemnify the Customer in full against any and all losses sustained by the Customer in consequence of the relevant breach or commission of Fraud, including the cost reasonably incurred by the Customer of making other arrangements for the supply of the Contract Services and any additional expenditure incurred by the Customer in relation thereto.

# TRANSFER AND SUB-CONTRACTING

## The Supplier shall not assign, novate, enter into a Sub-Contract in respect of, or in any other way dispose of, the Contract or any part of it without the Customer’s prior written consent. The Customer has consented to the engagement of any Sub-Contractors specifically identified in the Letter of Appointment.

## The Supplier shall be responsible for all acts and omissions of its Sub-Contractors and those employed or engaged by the Sub-Contractors as though they are its own.

## The Customer may assign, novate or otherwise dispose of its rights and obligations under the Contract or any part thereof to:

### any other Contracting Body; or

### any other body established by the Crown or under statute in order substantially to perform any of the functions that had previously been performed by the Customer; or

### any private sector body which substantially performs the functions of the Customer.

### provided that any such assignment, novation or other disposal shall not increase the burden of the Supplier's obligations under the Contract.

## The Customer may, if it so chooses, nominate the sub-contractors to be used for bought in services or contract them directly. The Customer will consult fully with the Supplier before exercising this right.

## The Customer may, if it chooses, use its in-house resources, business units and other framework agreements to deliver specific services. The Customer will consult fully with the Supplier before exercising this right.

## Any change in the legal status of the Customer such that it ceases to be a Contracting Body shall not, subject to Clause 14.7, affect the validity of the Contract. In such circumstances, the Contract shall bind and inure to the benefit of any successor body to the Customer.

## If the rights and obligations under the Contract are assigned, novated or otherwise disposed of pursuant to Clause 14.3 to a body which is not a Contracting Body or if there is a change in the legal status of the Customer such that it ceases to be a Contracting Body (in the remainder of this Clause any such body being referred to as a "**Transferee**"):

### the rights of termination of the Customer in Clause 8 shall be available to the Supplier in the event of, respectively, the bankruptcy or insolvency, or default of the Transferee; and

### the Transferee shall only be able to assign, novate or otherwise dispose of its rights and obligations under the Contract or any part thereof with the previous consent in writing of the Supplier.

## The Customer may disclose to any Transferee any of the Supplier’s Confidential Information which relates to the performance of the Supplier's obligations under the Contract. In such circumstances the Customer shall authorise the Transferee to use such Confidential Information only for purposes relating to the performance of the Supplier's obligations under the Contract and for no other purposes and shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that the Transferee gives a confidentiality undertaking in relation to such Confidential Information.

## For the purposes of Clause 14.7 each Party shall at its own cost and expense carry out, or use all reasonable endeavours to ensure the carrying out of, whatever further actions (including the execution of further documents) the other Party reasonably requires from time to time for the purpose of giving that other Party the full benefit of the provisions of the Contract.

# WAIVER

## The failure of either Party to insist upon strict performance of any provision of the Contract, or the failure of either Party to exercise, or any delay in exercising, any right or remedy shall not constitute a waiver of that right or remedy and shall not cause a diminution of the obligations established by the Contract.

## No waiver shall be effective unless it is expressly stated to be a waiver and communicated to the other Party in writing in accordance with Clause 22.

## A waiver by either Party of any right or remedy arising from a breach of the Contract shall not constitute a waiver of any right or remedy arising from any other or subsequent breach of the Contract.

# CUMULATIVE REMEDIES

## Except as otherwise expressly provided by the Contract, all remedies available to either Party for breach of the Contract are cumulative and may be exercised concurrently or separately, and the exercise of any one remedy shall not be deemed an election of such remedy to the exclusion of other remedies.

# FURTHER ASSURANCES

## Each Party undertakes at the request of the other, and at the cost of the requesting Party to do all acts and execute all documents which may be necessary to give effect to the meaning of the Contract.

# SEVERABILITY

## If any provision of the Contract is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable for any reason, such provision shall be severed and the remainder of the provisions hereof shall continue in full force and effect as if the Contract had been executed with the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision eliminated.

## In the event of a holding of invalidity so fundamental as to prevent the accomplishment of the purpose of the Contract, the Customer and the Supplier shall immediately commence good faith negotiations to remedy such invalidity.

# SUPPLIER’S STATUS

## At all times during the term of the Contract the Supplier shall be an independent contractor and nothing in the Contract shall create a contract of employment, a relationship of agency or partnership or a joint venture between the Parties and, accordingly, neither Party shall be authorised to act in the name of, or on behalf of, or otherwise bind the other Party save as expressly permitted by the terms of the Contract.

# ENTIRE AGREEMENT

## The Contract, together with a completed, signed and dated Framework Agreement and the other documents referred to in them constitute the entire agreement and understanding between the Parties in respect of the matters dealt with in them and supersede, cancel and nullify any previous agreement between the Parties in relation to such matters.

## Each of the Parties acknowledges and agrees that in entering into the Contract it does not rely on, and shall have no remedy in respect of, any statement, representation, warranty or undertaking (whether negligently or innocently made) other than as expressly set out in the Contract.

## The Supplier acknowledges that it has:

### entered into the Contract in reliance on its own due diligence alone; and

### received sufficient information required by it in order to determine whether it is able to provide the Contract Services in accordance with the terms of the Contract.

## Nothing in Clauses 20.1 and 20.2 shall operate:

### to exclude Fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation; or

### to limit the rights of the Customer pursuant to clause 34 of the Framework Agreement (Rights of Third Parties).

## The Contract may be executed in counterparts each of which when executed and delivered shall constitute an original but all counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

# CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT

## A person who is not a party to the Contract has no right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any of its provisions which, expressly or by implication, confer a benefit on him, without the prior written agreement of the Parties, provided that this Clause 21.1 does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available otherwise than pursuant to that Act.

## No consent of any third party is necessary for any rescission, variation (including any release or compromise in whole or in part of liability) or termination of the Contract or any one or more Clauses of it.

## Without prejudice to the Customer’s rights as a Contracting Body under clause 34 of the Framework Agreement, the Supplier agrees that the Customer may enforce any of the provisions of the Framework Agreement referred to in clause 34.2 (with the exception of clauses 33 and 34 of the Framework Agreement) as if they were terms of the Contract (reading references in those provisions to Contracting Bodies and the Supplier as references to the Customer and the Supplier respectively).

# NOTICES

## Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Contract, no notice or other communication from one Party to the other shall have any validity under the Contract unless given or made in writing by or on behalf of the Party sending the communication.

## Any notice or other communication given or made by either Party to the other shall:

### be given by letter (sent by hand, post or a recorded signed for delivery service), facsmile or electronic mail confirmed by letter; and

### unless the other Party acknowledges receipt of such communication at an earlier time, be deemed to have been given:

#### if delivered personally, at the time of delivery;

#### if sent by pre-paid post or a recorded signed for service two (2) Working Days after the day on which the letter was posted provided the relevant communication is not returned as undelivered;

#### if sent by electronic mail, two (2) Working Days after posting of a confirmation letter; and

#### if sent by facsimile, on the day of transmission if sent before 16:00 hours on any Working Day and otherwise at 09:00 hours on the next Working Day and provided that at time of transmission of the facsimile an error-free transmission report is received by the Party sending the communication.

## For the purposes of Clause 22.2, the address, email address and fax number of each Party shall be the address, email address and fax number specified in the Letter of Appointment.

## Either Party may change its address for service by serving a notice in accordance with this Clause 22.

## For the avoidance of doubt, any notice given under the Contract shall not be validly served if sent by electronic mail (email) and not confirmed by a letter.

# DISPUTES AND LAW

## **Governing Law and Jurisdiction**

## The Contract shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the Laws of England and Wales and the Parties agree to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts any dispute that arises in connection with the Contract.

## **Dispute Resolution**

### The Parties shall attempt in good faith to negotiate a settlement to any dispute between them arising out of or in connection with the Contract within twenty (20) Working Days of either Party notifying the other of the dispute and such efforts shall involve the escalation of the dispute to the level of representative of each Party specified in the Letter of Appointment.

### Nothing in this dispute resolution procedure shall prevent the Parties from seeking from any court of competent jurisdiction an interim order restraining the other Party from doing any act or compelling the other Party to do any act.

### If the dispute cannot be resolved by the Parties pursuant to Clause 23.2.1, the Parties shall refer it to mediation pursuant to the procedure set out in Clause 23.2.5 unless:

#### the Customer considers that the dispute is not suitable for resolution by mediation; or

#### the Supplier does not agree to mediation.

### The obligations of the Parties under the Contract shall not be suspended, cease or be delayed by the reference of a dispute to mediation and the Supplier and the Supplier’s Staff shall comply fully with the requirements of the Contract at all times.

### The procedure for mediation is as follows:

#### a neutral adviser or mediator (the **“Contract Mediator")** shall be chosen by agreement between the Parties or, if they are unable to agree upon a Contract Mediator within ten (10) Working Days after a request by one Party to the other or if the Contract Mediator agreed upon is unable or unwilling to act, either Party shall within ten (10) Working Days from the date of the proposal to appoint a Contract Mediator or within ten (10) Working Days of notice to either Party that he is unable or unwilling to act, apply to the CEDR to appoint a Contract Mediator;

#### the Parties shall within ten (10) Working Days of the appointment of the Contract Mediator meet with him in order to agree a programme for the exchange of all relevant information and the structure to be adopted for negotiations to be held. If considered appropriate, the Parties may at any stage seek assistance from the CEDR to provide guidance on a suitable procedure;

#### unless otherwise agreed, all negotiations connected with the dispute and any settlement agreement relating to it shall be conducted in confidence and without prejudice to the rights of the Parties in any future proceedings;

#### if the Parties reach agreement on the resolution of the dispute, the agreement shall be reduced to writing and shall be binding on the Parties once it is signed by their duly authorised representatives;

#### failing agreement, either of the Parties may invite the Contract Mediator to provide a non-binding but informative opinion in writing. Such an opinion shall be provided on a without prejudice basis and shall not be used in evidence in any proceedings relating to the Contract without the prior written consent of both Parties; and

#### if the Parties fail to reach agreement in the structured negotiations within sixty (60) Working Days of the Contract Mediator being appointed, or such longer period as may be agreed by the Parties, then any dispute or difference between them may be referred to the courts.

# DISASTER RECOVERY AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY

# The Parties shall comply with the provisions of Schedule 3 (Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity).

# REMEDIES IN THE EVENT OF INADEQUATE PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTRACT SERVICES

## Without prejudice to any other right or remedy which the Customer may have, if any of the Contract Services are not supplied in accordance with, or the Supplier fails to comply with any of the terms of the Contract then the Customer may (whether or not any part of the Contract Services have been supplied) do any of the following:

### at the Customer's option, give the Supplier the opportunity (at the Supplier's expense) to remedy any failure in the performance of the Contract Services together with any damage resulting from such defect or failure (and where such defect or failure is capable of remedy) or to supply Replacement Services and carry out any other necessary work to ensure that the terms of the Contract are fulfilled, in accordance with the Customer's instructions;

### if appendix 1 of the Letter of Appointment provides for the payment of delay payments, then the Supplier shall pay such amounts (as stipulated in the Letter of Appointment) on demand. The delay payments will accrue on a daily basis from the relevant milestone date and will continue to accrue until the date when the milestone is achieved;

### carry out, at the Supplier's expense, any work necessary to make the Contract Services comply with the Contract;

### without terminating the Contract, itself supply or procure the supply of all or part of the Contract Services until such time as the Supplier shall have demonstrated to the reasonable satisfaction of the Customer that the Supplier will once more be able to supply all or such part of the Contract Services in accordance with the Contract;

### without terminating the whole of the Contract, terminate the Contract in respect of part of the Contract Services only (whereupon a corresponding reduction in the Contract Charges shall be made) and thereafter itself supply or procure a third party to supply such part of the Contract Services; and/or

### charge the Supplier for and the Supplier shall on demand pay any costs reasonably incurred by the Customer (including any reasonable administration costs) in respect of the supply of any part of the Contract Services by the Customer or a third party to the extent that such costs exceed the payment which would otherwise have been payable to the Supplier for such part of the Contract Services and provided that the Customer uses its reasonable endeavours to mitigate any additional expenditure in obtaining replacement Contract Services.

## In the event that the Supplier:

### fails to comply with Clause 2.1 and the failure is materially adverse to the interests of the Customer or prevents the Customer from discharging a statutory duty; or

### persistently fails to comply with Clause 2.1,

### the Customer may terminate the Contract with immediate effect by giving the Supplier notice in writing.

# RECORDS AND AUDIT ACCESS

## The Supplier shall keep and maintain for seven (7) Years after the date of termination or expiry (whichever is the earlier) of the Contract (or as long a period as may be agreed between the Parties), full and accurate records and accounts of the operation of the Contract including the Contract Services provided under it, and the amounts paid by the Customer.

## The Supplier shall keep the records and accounts referred to in Clause 26.1 above in accordance with Good Industry Practice and generally accepted accounting principles.

## The Supplier shall afford the Customer and the Auditors access to the records and accounts referred to in Clause 26.2 at the Supplier’s premises and/or provide copies of such records and accounts, as may be required by the Customer and/or the Auditors from time to time, in order that the Customer and/or the Auditors may carry out an inspection including for the following purposes:

### to verify the accuracy of the Contract Charges (and proposed or actual variations to them in accordance with this Contract), and/or the costs of all Supplier (including Sub-Contractors) of the Contract Services;

### to review the integrity, confidentiality and security of the Customer Data held or used by the Supplier;

### to review the Supplier’s compliance with the DPA in accordance with this Contract and any other Laws;

### to review the Supplier's compliance with its continuous improvement and benchmarking obligations set out in Schedule 7 of the Framework Agreement;

### to review the Supplier's compliance with its security obligations set out, if appropriate, in Clause 36 and Schedule Z;

### to review any books of account kept by the Supplier in connection with the provision of the Contract Services;

### to carry out an examination pursuant to Section 6(1) of the National Audit Act 1983 of the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which the Customer has used its resources;

### to inspect the Customer’s assets, including the Intellectual Property Rights, equipment, facilities and maintenance, for the purposes of ensuring that the Customer's assets are secure and that any register of assets is up to date; and/or

### to ensure that the Supplier is complying with its obligations under this Contract.

## The Supplier shall on request afford the Customer, the Customer's representatives and/or the Auditor access to such records and accounts as may be required by the Customer from time to time.

## The Supplier shall provide such records and accounts (together with copies of the Supplier's published accounts) on request during the term of the Contract and for the period specified in Letter of Appointment after the date of termination or expiry of the term of the Contract to the Customer and/or the Auditors.

## The Customer shall use reasonable endeavours to ensure that the conduct of each audit does not unreasonably disrupt the Supplier or delay the provision of the Contract Services save insofar as the Supplier accepts and acknowledges that control over the conduct of audits carried out by the Auditor is outside of the control of the Customer.

## Subject to the Supplier’s rights in respect of Confidential Information, the Supplier shall on demand provide the Auditors with all reasonable co-operation and assistance in:

### all reasonable information requested by the Customer within the scope of the audit;

### reasonable access to sites controlled by the Supplier and to equipment used in the provision of the Contract Services; and

### access to the Supplier’s Staff.

## The Parties agree that they shall bear their own respective costs and expenses incurred in respect of compliance with their obligations under this Clause 26, unless the audit reveals a Material Default by the Supplier in which case the Supplier shall reimburse the Customer for the Customer's reasonable costs incurred in relation to the audit.

# VARIATION

## Subject to the provisions of this Clause 27, the Customer may request a variation to the Contract Services ordered provided that such variation does not amount to a material change to the Order. Such a change is hereinafter called a "**Variation**”,

## The Customer may request a Variation by completing and sending the form set out in Schedule 2 (Variation Form) ("**Variation Form**") to the Supplier giving sufficient information for the Supplier to assess the extent of the Variation and any additional cost that may be incurred. The Supplier shall respond to a request for a Variation within the time limits specified in the Variation Form. Such time limits shall be reasonable having regard to the nature of the Order.

## In the event that the Supplier is unable to provide the Variation to the Contract Services or where the Parties are unable to agree a change to the Contract Charges, the Customer may:

### agree to continue to perform their obligations under the Contract without the Variation; or

### terminate the Contract with immediate effect, except where the Supplier has already delivered part or all of the Order in accordance with the Order Form or where the Supplier can show evidence of substantial work being carried out to fulfil the Order, and in such a case the Parties shall attempt to agree upon a resolution to the matter. Where a resolution cannot be reached, the matter shall be dealt with under the Dispute Resolution Procedure.

## If the Parties agree the Variation and any variation in the Contract Charges, the Supplier shall carry out such Variation and be bound by the same provisions so far as is applicable, as though such Variation was stated in the Contract.

# MISTAKES IN INFORMATION

# The Supplier shall be responsible for the accuracy of all drawings, documentation and information supplied to the Customer by the Supplier in connection with the supply of the Contract Services and shall pay the Customer any extra costs occasioned by any discrepancies, errors or omissions therein, except where such mistakes are the fault of the Customer.

# TERM

## This Contract shall take effect on the Call Off Commencement Date and shall expire on the Expiry Date unless it is terminated earlier in accordance with its terms or otherwise by operation of Law.

SCHEDULE 1 : SERVICE LEVELS

**As per the Service Description**

SCHEDULE 2: VARIATION FORM

**No of Order being varied:……………………………………………………………………**

**Variation Form No:……………………………………………………………………………………**

**BETWEEN:**

|  |
| --- |
| Department for Communities and Local Government ("**the Customer"**)  and  M&C Saatchi UK PLC (**"the Supplier"**) |

1. The Order is varied as follows and shall take effect on the date signed by both Parties:
2. Words and expressions in this Variation shall have the meanings given to them in the Contract.
3. The Contract, including any previous Variations, shall remain effective and unaltered except as amended by this Variation.

**Signed by an authorised signatory for and on behalf of the Customer**

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| Signature |  |
| Date |  |
| Name (in Capitals) |  |
| Address |  |
|  |  |

**Signed by an authorised signatory to sign for and on behalf of the Supplier**

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| Signature |  |
| Date |  |
| Name (in Capitals) |  |
| Address |  |
|  |  |

SCHEDULE 3: DISASTER RECOVERY AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY

The Authority expects the supplier to have such a plan in place.

SCHEDULE 4: NOT USED

SCHEDULE 5: ADDITIONAL OPTIONAL CLAUSES

**Time of the Essence**

**Supplier’s Staff**

**Protection of Information**

**Schedule Z Security Management Plan**

1. 34. TIME OF THE ESSENCE
   1. 34.1 Because of the nature of the Contract Services to be provided, time will be of the essence of the Contract when a delivery date has been agreed and any late delivery or performance by the Supplier will be treated as a fundamental breach of contract not capable of remedy when interpreting Clause 8 of the Contract, except where the delay is caused:
      1. through the fault of the Customer or another supplier to the Customer; or
      2. through reason of Force Majeure (as defined and applied in the Framework Agreement).
   2. In the event of late delivery caused other than by the exceptions given above:
      1. the Customer may withhold any or all of the outstanding value of the Contract;
      2. at the request of the Customer, the Supplier will repay any or all amounts already paid to him in respect of the Contract; and
      3. the Customer shall have the right to decide what amounts will be withheld or repaid. In exercising its rights or remedies under this clause, the Customer will act in a reasonable and proportionate manner paying full and proper regard to the real loss in value of the Contract Services that the late delivery has caused.
   3. In the event that late delivery results in the Contract Services having no value to the Customer and no payment is made to the Supplier, then the Supplier shall retain all rights in materials he has produced and the Customer shall have no rights to such materials.
2. 35 SUPPLIER'S STAFF
   1. The Customer may, by written notice to the Supplier, refuse to admit onto, or withdraw permission to remain on, the Customer’s Premises:
      1. any member of the Supplier’s Staff; or
      2. any person employed or engaged by any member of the Supplier’s Staff,

whose admission or continued presence would, in the reasonable opinion of the Customer, be undesirable.

* 1. At the Customer's written request, the Supplier shall provide a list of the names and addresses of all persons who may require admission to the Customer’s Premises in connection with the Contract, specifying the capacities in which they are concerned with the Contract and giving such other particulars as the Customer may reasonably request.
  2. Members of the Supplier’s Staff engaged within the boundaries of the Customer’s Premises shall comply with such rules, regulations and requirements (including those relating to security arrangements) as may be in force from time to time for the conduct of personnel when at or within the boundaries of those Customer’s Premises.
  3. If the Supplier fails to comply with Clause 35.2 within [three (3)] weeks of the date of the request, the Customer may terminate the Contract, provided always that such termination shall not prejudice or affect any right of action or remedy which shall have accrued or shall thereafter accrue to the Customer.
  4. The decision of the Customer as to whether any person is to be refused access to the Premises and as to whether the Supplier has failed to comply with Clause 2.2 shall be final and conclusive.

**Relevant Convictions**

* 1. The Supplier shall ensure that no person who discloses that he has a Relevant Conviction, or who is found by the Supplier to have any Relevant Convictions (whether as a result of a police check or through the Criminal Records Bureau procedures or otherwise), is employed or engaged in any part of the provision of the Contract Services without Customer approval.
  2. For each member of the Supplier’s Staff who, in providing the Contract Services, has, will have or is likely to have access to children, vulnerable persons or other members of the public to whom the Customer owes a special duty of care, the Supplier shall (and shall procure that the relevant Sub-Contractor shall):
     1. carry out a check with the records held by DfE;
     2. conduct thorough questioning regarding any Relevant Convictions; and
     3. ensure a police check is completed and such other checks as may be carried out through the Criminal Records Bureau,

and the Supplier shall not (and shall ensure that any Sub-Contractor shall not) engage or continue to employ in the provision of the Contract Services any person who has a Relevant Conviction or an inappropriate record.

1. PROTECTION OF INFORMATION
   1. **Security Requirements**
      1. The Supplier shall comply, and shall procure the compliance of the Supplier’s Staff, with the Security Policy and the Security Management Plan and the Supplier shall ensure that the Security Management Plan produced by the Supplier fully complies with the Security Policy.
      2. The Customer shall notify the Supplier of any changes or proposed changes to the Security Policy.
      3. If the Supplier believes that a change or proposed change to the Security Policy will have a material and unavoidable cost implication to the provision of the Contract Services it may notify the Customer. In doing so, the Supplier must support its request by providing evidence of the cause of any increased costs and the steps that it has taken to mitigate those costs.
      4. Until and/or unless a change to the Contract Charges is agreed by the Customer pursuant to Clause 27 the Supplier shall continue to perform the Contract Services in accordance with its existing obligations.
   2. **Malicious Software**
      1. The Supplier shall, as an enduring obligation throughout the term of the Contract, use the latest versions of anti-virus definitions and software available from an industry accepted anti-virus software vendor to check for, contain the spread of, and minimise the impact of Malicious Software in the ICT Environment (or as otherwise agreed between the Parties).
      2. Notwithstanding Clause 3.2.1, if Malicious Software is found, the Parties shall co-operate to reduce the effect of the Malicious Software and, particularly if Malicious Software causes loss of operational efficiency or loss or corruption of Customer Data, assist each other to mitigate any losses and to restore the Contract Services to their desired operating efficiency.
      3. Any cost arising out of the actions of the Parties taken in compliance with the provisions of Clause 3.2.1 shall be borne by the Parties as follows:
         1. by the Supplier, where the Malicious Software originates from the Supplier Software or the Customer Data (whilst the Customer Data was under the control of the Supplier) unless the Supplier can demonstrate that such Malicious Software was present and not quarantined or otherwise identified by the Customer when provided to the Supplier; and
         2. by the Customer if the Malicious Software originates from the Customer Software or the Customer Data (whilst the Customer Data was under the control of the Customer).
   3. **Security of Premises**
      1. The Customer shall be responsible for maintaining the security of the Customer’s Premises in accordance with its standard security requirements. The Supplier shall comply with all reasonable security requirements of the Customer while on the Customer’s Premises and shall ensure that all members of the Supplier’s Staff comply with such requirements.
      2. The Customer shall provide the Supplier upon request copies of its written security procedures and shall afford the Supplier upon request an opportunity to inspect its physical security arrangements.
   4. **Customer Data**
      1. The Supplier shall not delete or remove any proprietary notices contained within or relating to the Customer Data.
      2. The Supplier shall not store, copy, disclose, or use the Customer Data except as necessary for the performance by the Supplier of its obligations under this Contract or as otherwise expressly approved by the Customer.
      3. To the extent that the Customer Data is held and/or processed by the Supplier, the Supplier shall supply that Customer Data to the Customer as requested by the Customer and in the format specified in this Contract (if any) and in any event as specified by the Customer from time to time in writing.
      4. To the extent that Customer Data is held and/or processed by the Supplier, the Supplier shall take responsibility for preserving the integrity of Customer Data and preventing the corruption or loss of Customer Data.
      5. The Supplier shall ensure that any system on which the Supplier holds any Customer Data, including back-up data, is a secure system that complies with the Security Policy.
      6. The Supplier shall ensure that any system on which the Supplier holds any Customer Data which is protectively marked shall be accredited using [Security Policy Framework and IA Policy, taking into account guidance on Risk Management and Accreditation of Information Systems] [HMG IA Standard Number 2 (Risk Management and Accreditation of Information Systems)] and the Supplier shall review such accreditation status at least once in each calendar Year to assess whether material changes have occurred which could alter the original accreditation decision. If any such changes have occurred then the Supplier shall resubmit such system for accreditation.
      7. If the Customer Data is corrupted, lost or sufficiently degraded as a result of the Supplier's Default so as to be unusable, the Customer may:
         1. require the Supplier (at the Supplier's expense) to restore or procure the restoration of the Customer Data to the extent and in accordance with the BCDR Plan and the Supplier shall do so as soon as practicable but in accordance with the time period notified by the Customer; and/or
         2. itself restore or procure the restoration of Customer Data, and shall be repaid by the Supplier any reasonable expenses incurred in doing so to the extent and in accordance with the requirements specified in the BCDR Plan.
         3. If at any time the Supplier suspects or has reason to believe that the Customer Data has or may become corrupted, lost or sufficiently degraded in any way for any reason, then the Supplier shall notify the Customer immediately and inform the Customer of the remedial action the Supplier proposes to take.
   5. **Protection of Personal Data**
      1. With respect to the Parties' rights and obligations under this Contract, the Parties agree that the Customer is the Data Controller and that the Supplier is the Data Processor.
      2. The Supplier shall:
         1. Process the Personal Data only in accordance with instructions from the Customer (which may be specific instructions or instructions of a general nature as set out in this Contract or as otherwise notified by the Customer to the Supplier during the term of the Contract);
      3. Process the Personal Data only to the extent, and in such manner, as is necessary for the provision of the Contract Services or as is required by Law or any Regulatory Body;
      4. implement appropriate technical and organisational measures to protect the Personal Data against unauthorised or unlawful processing and against accidental loss, destruction, damage, alteration or disclosure. These measures shall be appropriate to the harm which might result from any unauthorised or unlawful Processing, accidental loss, destruction or damage to the Personal Data and having regard to the nature of the Personal Data which is to be protected;
      5. take reasonable steps to ensure the reliability of all members of the Supplier’s Staff who have access to the Personal Data;
      6. obtain prior written approval from the Customer in order to transfer the Personal Data to any Sub-Contractors for the provision of the Contract Services;
      7. ensure that all members of the Supplier’s Staff required to access the Personal Data are informed of the confidential nature of the Personal Data and comply with the obligations set out in this Clause 6.14;
      8. ensure that none of the Supplier’s Staff publish, disclose or divulge any of the Personal Data to any third party unless directed in writing to do so by the Customer;
      9. notify the Customer (within five (5) Working Days) if it receives:
         1. a request from a Data Subject to have access to that person's Personal Data; or
         2. a complaint or request relating to the Customer's obligations under the Data Protection Legislation;
      10. provide the Customer with full cooperation and assistance in relation to any complaint or request made, including by:
          1. providing the Customer with full details of the complaint or request;
          2. complying with a data access request within the relevant timescales set out in the Data Protection Legislation and in accordance with the Customer's instructions;
          3. providing the Customer with any Personal Data it holds in relation to a Data Subject (within the timescales required by the Customer); and
          4. providing the Customer with any information requested by the Customer;
      11. permit the Customer or the Customer’s Representative (subject to reasonable and appropriate confidentiality undertakings), to inspect and audit, the Supplier's data Processing activities (and/or those of its agents, subsidiaries and Sub-Contractors) and comply with all reasonable requests or directions by the Customer to enable the Customer to verify and/or procure that the Supplier is in full compliance with its obligations under this Contract;
      12. provide a written description of the technical and organisational methods employed by the Supplier for processing Personal Data (within the timescales required by the Customer); and
      13. not Process or otherwise transfer any Personal Data outside the European Economic Area. If, after the Commencement Date, the Supplier (or any Sub-Contractor) wishes to Process and/or transfer any Personal Data outside the European Economic Area, the following provisions shall apply:
          1. the Supplier shall submit a request for Variation to the Customer which shall be dealt with in accordance with the Variation procedure and paragraph (b) to (d) below;
          2. the Supplier shall set out in its request for a Variation details of the following:
             1. the Personal Data which will be Processed and/or transferred outside the European Economic Area;
             2. the country or countries in which the Personal Data will be Processed and/or to which the Personal Data will be transferred outside the European Economic Area;
             3. any Sub-Contractors or other third parties who will be Processing and/or transferring Personal Data outside the European Economic Area; and
             4. how the Supplier will ensure an adequate level of protection and adequate safeguards (in accordance with the Data Protection Legislation and in particular so as to ensure the Customer’s compliance with the Data Protection Legislation) in respect of the Personal Data that will be Processed and/or transferred outside the European Economic Area;
          3. in providing and evaluating the request for Variation, the Parties shall ensure that they have regard to and comply with then-current Customer, Government and Information Commissioner Office policies, procedures, guidance and codes of practice on, and any approvals processes in connection with, the Processing and/or transfers of Personal Data outside the European Economic Area and/or overseas generally but, for the avoidance of doubt, the Customer may, in its absolute discretion, refuse to grant Approval of such Process and/or transfer any Personal Data outside the European Economic Area; and
          4. the Supplier shall comply with such other instructions and shall carry out such other actions as the Customer may notify in writing, including:
             1. incorporating standard and/or model Clauses (which are approved by the European Commission as offering adequate safeguards under the Data Protection Legislation) in this Contract or a separate data processing agreement between the parties; and
             2. procuring that any Sub-Contractor or other third party who will be Processing and/or transferring the Personal Data outside the European Economic Area enters into a direct data processing agreement with the Customer on such terms as may be required by the Customer, which the Supplier acknowledges may include the incorporation of standard and/or model Clauses (which are approved by the European Commission as offering adequate safeguards under the Data Protection Legislation).
      14. The Supplier shall comply at all times with the Data Protection Legislation and shall not perform its obligations under this Contract in such a way as to cause the Customer to breach any of its applicable obligations under the Data Protection Legislation.
      15. The Supplier acknowledges that, in the event that it breaches (or attempts or threatens to breach) its obligations relating to Personal Data that the Customer may be irreparably harmed (including harm to its reputation). In such circumstances, the Customer may proceed directly to court and seek injunctive or other equitable relief to remedy or prevent any further breach (or attempted or threatened breach).
      16. The Supplier shall, at all times during and after the term of the Contract, indemnify the Customer and keep the Customer fully indemnified against all losses, damages, costs or expenses and other liabilities (including legal fees) incurred by, awarded against or agreed to be paid by the Customer arising from any breach of the Supplier's obligations under this Clause 3.5 except and to the extent that such liabilities have resulted directly from the Customer's instructions.
   6. **Confidentiality**
      1. Except to the extent set out in this Clause 3.6 or where disclosure is expressly permitted elsewhere in this Contract, each Party shall:
         1. treat the other Party's Confidential Information as confidential and safeguard it accordingly; and
         2. not disclose the other Party's Confidential Information to any other person without the owner's prior written consent.
      2. Clause 3.6.1 shall not apply to the extent that:
         1. such disclosure is a requirement of Law placed upon the Party making the disclosure, including any requirements for disclosure under the FOIA, Code of Practice on Access to Government Information or the Environmental Information Regulations pursuant to Clause 3.8 (Freedom of Information);
         2. such information was in the possession of the Party making the disclosure without obligation of confidentiality prior to its disclosure by the information owner;
         3. such information was obtained from a third party without obligation of confidentiality;
         4. such information was already in the public domain at the time of disclosure otherwise than by a breach of this Contract; or
         5. it is independently developed without access to the other Party's Confidential Information.
      3. The Supplier may only disclose the Customer's Confidential Information to those members of the Supplier’s Staff who are directly involved in the provision of the Contract Services and who need to know the information, and shall ensure that such Staff are aware of and shall comply with these obligations as to confidentiality.
      4. The Supplier shall not, and shall procure that the Supplier’s Staff do not, use any of the Customer's Confidential Information received otherwise than for the purposes of this Contract.
      5. At the written request of the Customer, the Supplier shall procure that those members of the Supplier’s Staff identified in the Customer's notice sign a confidentiality undertaking prior to commencing any work in accordance with this Contract.
      6. In the event that any default, act or omission of any member of the Supplier’s Staff causes or contributes (or could cause or contribute) to the Supplier breaching its obligations as to confidentiality under or in connection with this Contract, the Supplier shall take such action as may be appropriate in the circumstances, including the use of disciplinary procedures in serious cases. To the fullest extent permitted by its own obligations of confidentiality to any member of the Supplier’s Staff, the Supplier shall provide such evidence to the Customer as the Customer may reasonably require (though not so as to risk compromising or prejudicing any disciplinary or other proceedings to demonstrate that the Supplier is taking appropriate steps to comply with this Clause, including copies of any written communications to and/or from members of the Supplier’s Staff, and any minutes of meeting and any other records which provide an audit trail of any discussions or exchanges with members of the Supplier’s Staff in connection with obligations as to confidentiality.
      7. Nothing in this Contract shall prevent the Customer from disclosing the Supplier's Confidential Information (including the Management Information obtained under of the Framework Agreement):
         1. to any Crown body or any other Contracting Body. All Crown bodies or Contracting Bodies receiving such Confidential Information shall be entitled to further disclose the Confidential Information to other Crown bodies or other Contracting Bodies on the basis that the information is confidential and is not to be disclosed to a third party which is not part of any Crown body or any Contracting Body;
         2. to any consultant, contractor or other person engaged by the Customer or any person conducting an Office of Government Commerce gateway review;
         3. for the purpose of the examination and certification of the Customer's accounts; or
         4. for any examination pursuant to Section 6(1) of the National Audit Act 1983 of the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which the Customer has used its resources.
      8. The Customer shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that any government department, Contracting Body, employee, third party or contractor to whom the Supplier's Confidential Information is disclosed pursuant to Clause 36.5.7 is made aware of the Customer's obligations of confidentiality.
      9. Nothing in this Clause 3.6 shall prevent either Party from using any techniques, ideas or Know-How gained during the performance of the Contract in the course of its normal business to the extent that this use does not result in a disclosure of the other Party's Confidential Information or an infringement of IPR.
      10. In the event that the Supplier fails to comply with Clause 3.6.1 to Clause3.6.6, the Customer reserves the right to terminate this Contract with immediate effect by notice in writing.
      11. In order to ensure that no unauthorised person gains access to any Confidential Information or any data obtained in performance of this Contract, the Supplier undertakes to maintain adequate security arrangements that meet the requirements of Good Industry Practice.
   7. **Official Secrets Acts 1911 to 1989, section 182 of the Finance Act 1989**
      1. The Supplier shall comply with and shall ensure that all members of the Supplier’s Staff comply with, the provisions of:
         1. the Official Secrets Acts 1911 to 1989; and
         2. Section 182 of the Finance Act 1989.
      2. In the event that the Supplier or its Staff fail to comply with this Clause 3.7 the Customer reserves the right to terminate the Contract by giving notice in writing to the Supplier.
   8. **Freedom of Information**
      1. The Supplier acknowledges that the Customer is subject to the requirements of the FOIA and the Environmental Information Regulations and shall assist and cooperate with the Customer to enable the Customer to comply with its Information disclosure obligations.
      2. The Supplier shall and shall procure that its Sub-Contractors shall:
         1. transfer to the Customer all Requests for Information that it receives as soon as practicable and in any event within two (2) Working Days of receiving a Request for Information;
         2. provide the Customer with a copy of all Information in its possession, or control in the form that the Customer requires within five (5) Working Days (or such other period as the Customer may specify) of the Customer's request; and
         3. provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the Customer to enable the Customer to respond to the Request for Information within the time for compliance set out in section 10 of the FOIA or regulation 5 of the Environmental Information Regulations.
      3. The Customer shall be responsible for determining in its absolute discretion and notwithstanding any other provision in this Contract or any other contract whether the Commercially Sensitive Information and/or any other Information is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA or the Environmental Information Regulations.
      4. In no event shall the Supplier respond directly to a Request for Information unless authorised in writing to do so by the Customer.
      5. The Supplier acknowledges that (notwithstanding the provisions of Clause 3.6) the Customer may, acting in accordance with the Ministry of Justice Codes, be obliged under the FOIA, or the Environmental Information Regulations to disclose information concerning the Supplier or the Contract Services:
         1. in certain circumstances without consulting the Supplier; or
         2. following consultation with the Supplier and having taken their views into account,

provided always that where Clause 3.8.5 applies the Customer shall, in accordance with any recommendations of the Ministry of Justice Codes, take reasonable steps, where appropriate, to give the Supplier advanced notice, or failing that, to draw the disclosure to the Supplier's attention after any such disclosure.

* + 1. The Supplier shall ensure that all Information is retained for disclosure in accordance with the provisions of this Contract and in any event in accordance with the requirements of Good Industry Practice and shall permit the Customer to inspect such records as requested from time to time.
    2. The Supplier acknowledges that the Commercially Sensitive Information is of indicative nature only and that the Customer may be obliged to disclose it in accordance with Clause 3.8.5.
  1. **Transparency**
     1. The Parties acknowledge that, except for any information which is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA, the content of this Contract is not Confidential Information. The Customer shall be responsible for determining in its absolute discretion whether any of the content of the Contract is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA.
     2. Notwithstanding any other term of this Contract, the Supplier hereby gives his consent for the Customer to publish the Contract in its entirety (but with any information which is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA redacted), including from time to time agreed changes to the Contract, to the general public.
     3. The Customer may consult with the Supplier to inform its decision regarding any redactions but the Customer shall have the final decision in its absolute discretion.
     4. The Supplier shall assist and cooperate with the Customer to enable the Customer to publish this Contract.